
 
 

SCRUTINY : REGENERATION AND 
PUBLIC PROTECTION MEETING 

 
2.30 pm TUESDAY, 10TH SEPTEMBER, 2019 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 2.00 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 

the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 
possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.   

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

 

3. Corporate Self- Evaluation - Question 1 
(Outcomes)  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

5 - 38 

4. Update on Destination Management   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

39 - 52 

5. Work Programme 2019-20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

53 - 64 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow Up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any Other Business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 
 

 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  J Amos (Chair) 

                     C J Barry (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors: M Colbran, L Davies, G Lewis and 

S Thomas 
 
Co-optee(s): H Hopkins, H Jackson, H Powell and 
M Ellis 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Corporate Self-Evaluation – Question 1 (Outcomes) 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Self-evaluation is a rigorous process that enables Chief Officers, Heads of Service 

and officers to be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision and 
leadership and management. 
 

1.2 Following a refocus exercise of documentation to ensure it continued to meet the 
organisation’s needs; the Council’s Corporate Management Team (CMT) approved 
the re-introduction of the corporate self-evaluation process in June 2019.    
 

1.3 Completion of the process is undertaken in ‘bite-sized’ chunks on a question-by-
question basis.  This aims to support all officers involved to contribute to the process 
whilst maintaining their ability to manage multiple other priorities. 

 
1.4 This report focuses on the completion of the self-evaluation undertaken by the Chief 

Officer: Community Regeneration and his teams in relation to Key Question 
(Outcomes).  The response directly relates to the Working Life theme laid down in 
the Council’s Corporate Plan: Focus on the Future. 

 

1.5 This report and its appendices highlight the key findings of the self-evaluation 
activity; outline areas of good practice along with areas for development; and 
identifies the priorities for improvement which will be developed into a Business 
Improvement Plan. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members are requested to review the documentation and key 

findings following completion of Key Question 1 of the process. 

Date Written 22nd August 2019 

Report Author Alyn Owen/Performance Team 

Service Area Community Regeneration, Public 
Protection and Housing 

Committee Date 10th September 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2.2 Scrutiny Committee Members to provide officers feedback on the content of the 
report developed through completion of the self-evaluation process. 

 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Self-evaluation is a business process that is rigorous and enables organisations to 

be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision and leadership and 
management.  In 2013/14, the Council introduced a self-evaluation process which 
was completed by officers at Head of Service level.  The format of the challenge 
sessions was based on high-level challenge in a session lasting 2-2½ hours; with a 
number of Heads of Service. 

 
3.2 Over time, using lessons learned over previous years, the format of the challenge of 

self-evaluation was developed (e.g.) self-evaluation was undertaken on a service-
level basis; with challenge being offered a Performance Board consisting the Chief 
Executive, Directorate Lead; Portfolio Member and the Chair of the Scrutiny 
Committee to which the service reported.  The key outcome of the process was to 
identify areas of good practice; along with priorities for improvement. 

 
3.3 In 2019, a refocus exercise was undertaken to ensure the self-evaluation documents 

continued to meet the organisation’s needs (e.g.) offered officers completing the 
forms opportunity to outline the current service position; highlight any good practice; 
note areas for development and to identify the services’ priorities for improvement. 
The documents were organised in the form of 3 key questions: 
 

 Outcomes; 

 Provision and Service Delivery; and  

 Leadership and management. 
 

There was no specific order in which the questions needed to be completed, as long 
as all three questions were completed within the year. 
 

3.4 Following consideration of the updated documents by the Council’s Corporate 
Management Team (CMT); the new format was approved for re-introduction in June 
2019.  

 
3.5 As part of the process cycle supporting the delivery of the self-evaluation process 

(see Appendix 1), it was proposed that completed questions should be presented 
before the sector-specific scrutiny committee which normally scrutinises the 
outputs/outcomes for the relevant service area.  This was seen as an opportunity for 
Committee Members to review and explore facets of the wide range of activities for 
which Chief Officers were accountable; whilst for services, it was seen as an 
opportunity for details of their services to be brought before scrutiny to outline 
positive practice and achievements along with any challenges faced and areas for 
development. 
 

3.6 Committee Members are asked to review the content of the completed questions and 
consider performance, areas of good practice, areas for development and, perhaps 
most importantly, the services’ priorities for improvement for the coming year.  

Page 6



Scrutineers’ feedback will be used when considering how these priorities will be 
progressed. 

 

4 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  In previous years, the Council had undertaken self-evaluation activities annually on a 

service-by service basis.  The process required Heads of Service to review 
project/programme activity and reflect on what had been achieved, as well as 
identifying what needed to be prioritised next with a view to planning how should be 
done.  

 

5 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1  Following approval of the refocused self-evaluation (both process and paperwork); 

discussions took place with each of the 4 Chief Officers who confirmed that a copy of 
the paperwork should be issued to their teams so they might consider how they 
wished to contribute to preparing a response.   
 

5.2 This specific report links to the response for the service areas for which the Chief 
Officer – Community Regeneration is accountable.  It also relates to the Working 
Life theme contained within MTCBC’s Corporate Wellbeing Plan (Focus on the 
Future). 

 
5.3 The Chief Officer requested that, with support from the Performance & Scrutiny 

Team, a workshop be arranged to enable all relevant officers to have input to the 
production of the response document.  The working group were asked by Service 
Managers to look at Question 1 in the first instance.   
 

5.4 In order to maximise the time allocated for the workshop, service managers were 
asked to work with their teams to prepare a service-specific response.  This would 
then be submitted to the relevant Performance & Scrutiny Officer who would produce 
one collated document for the Chief Officer and all attendees.  The Performance 
Officer would also undertake some basic analysis of the key findings to support 
discussions and internal challenge at the workshop event. 
 

5.5 The Working Life workshop took place on 19th July 2019 and was led by the Chief 
Officer.  The session was well attended by officers from across the Community 
Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing teams.  Also in attendance were the 
Council’s Head of Corporate Services and the relevant Performance & Scrutiny 
Officer. 
 

5.6    The key findings of the workshop session were identified as listed below: 
 

a) Attendees agreed that the change in the way in which services now work 
together was proving beneficial, with discussions around service planning; 
problem solving and collaborative projects involving officers from across a 
larger number of service areas; 

b) 100% of the services of the Chief Officer: Community Regeneration’s 
contributed to at least one of the Council’s Wellbeing objectives; with some 
services supporting multiple wellbeing objectives; 

Page 7



c) 50% of services were aligned with the wellbeing objectives set by Cwm Taf 
Public Services Board thereby supporting the Council’s Vision document; 

d) There was clear evidence of how the services responding were using the five 
ways of working to undertake planning, delivery and evaluation of the 
activities they undertake through service delivery.  This can be triangulated 
using feedback received from WAO in June 2019 following an examination 
visit which focused on the Working Life theme and identified a number of 
strengths along with some proposed areas for development in relation to the 
five ways of working. 

Discussion at the workshop identified that as a group, they would benefit from 
spending some time further demystifying the five ways of working as they 
believed this would enable them to achieve greater benefits for their projects 
and programmes, thereby improving the quality of services accessed by 
service users; 

e) A number of the project’s undertook the measurement of subjective wellbeing 
and valued this is a useful tool by which they could measure the impact of the 
support the services offered on the wellbeing of service users.  As a result of 
discussions, a number of other service areas are to explore using this tool; 

f) 100% of the responding services were able to provide evidence of 
collaboration with other Council services and across a wider span of partners 
both locally, regionally, nationally and, in some cases, internationally; 

g) There had been a degree of service reconfiguration over the last 12-18 
months (e.g.) the bringing together of Housing and Supporting People 
Services.  This has been undertaken to support better working together and to 
maximise the skills, knowledge and experience of service areas available; 

h) Some capacity-related issues were noted across some of the service areas 
with Environmental Health; Protection and Safety Services and Housing & 
Supporting People noting this as a factor on their responses.  These issues 
were being closely monitored but should be considered when reviewing 
progress against targets etc.; 

i) There was evidence of both standard and responsive planning across the 
services; with the quality of this planning improving as a result of improved 
working relationships where lessons learned were shared across all services; 

j) There was evidence of innovation in some of the approaches taken (e.g.) the 
development of the Drug Litter Reporting App had led not only to the early 
collection of discarded drug litter, but also as a catalyst for the production of a 
different type of business intelligence on which to take action; 

k) The clear evidence of project work undertaken by the services responding 
shows a huge scope and scale of activity being undertaken by delivery teams.   

 
Full findings of the Key Question 1 can be reviewed in Appendix 2.   

 
5.7 The findings of Key Questions 1 were presented to Members of the Community  

Regeneration, Public Protection & Housing (CRPPH) Board at the meeting held on 
Monday 19th August 2019.  Here the document and its findings were, reviewed, 
discussed and challenged.  Some suggested amendments were identified through 
completion of this process and these have been actioned and are incorporated into 

Page 8



the version of the collated document which Scrutiny Committee Members are 
reviewing. 

 

6 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 Through completion of this process; the Chief Officer: Community Regeneration and 

his teams have identified a number of areas for development upon which they should 
focus.  By discussing and exploring these, and giving consideration to any other 
requirements such as proposals/recommendations for improvement from auditors 
and regulators, the key priorities for improvement were identified. 
 

6.2 In order to provide a framework for the response to the identified priorities for 
improvement; a series of Business Improvement Plans (BIPs) are to be developed 
with the support of the Council’s Performance and Scrutiny Team.  These BIPs will 
again be collaboratively developed by the Working Life working group; the main aim 
of this will be: 
 

 To clearly identify the actions to be undertaken to positively progress the 
priorities for improvement, giving a clear indication of the desired outcomes 
(i.e.) what the improvement would look like; 

 To identify who is accountable for the delivering the actions and provide clarity 
on what the required timescales would be; 

 To provide a tool for regular monitoring of the progress made; and the 
effectiveness of the actions identified to improve; and 

 To have a standardised corporate way in which improvement activities can be 
organised, developing supporting governance arrangements. 

 
6.3 The findings of the self-evaluation activities will also support clearer identification of 

opportunities to develop more collaborative/integrated working processes across the 
organisation and more widely with external partners/stakeholders. 

 

7 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 By securing the views and feedback of Scrutiny Committee Members the completion 

of the self-evaluation process; we can consider this when planning responses to the 
identified priorities for improvement. 

 
7.2    Begin to populate the Business Improvement Plans; and actions required to progress      

these providing clarity around accountability for completion; timescales  etc. 
 

7.3    Explore the five ways of working in more detail to develop a deeper understanding of  
these before moving on to consider Key Question 2 which focuses on Provision and 
Service Delivery.  

 
7.4    Look at how we can build the proposed ‘areas for development’ highlighted by WAO 

into the developing BIPs (where appropriate) so that progress of these proposals can 
be monitored and evidence of action recorded as required. 

 
 
 

Page 9



8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The corporate self-evaluation process is based around the services/activities 
delivered and should reflect the contribution made in relation to the four wellbeing 
objectives set down by the Council in focus in the Corporate Wellbeing Plan.   

 
8.2 This report specifically links to the Working Life objective within the Council’s  

Corporate Wellbeing Plan: People feel supported to develop the skills required 
to meet the needs of businesses; with a developing, safe infrastructure making 
Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination.   
 

8.3   Through completion of other self-evaluation responses; we will also be able to 
demonstrate our team’s contribution to support progress against the following 
objectives: 
 

 Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health 

 

 

 

 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER: COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER: REGENERATION & 

PUBLIC PROTECTION 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



Self-Evaluation Process Cycle: 4 months x 3 
 
 
    Internal challenge      External challenge 
 
 
 
 
 

                  
          
     

Evidence 
gathering & 
judgment 

Internal 
challenge 

on judgment 

Internal 
challenge at 

CMT 

External 
challenge 

Scrutiny 

Evidence 
gathering & 
judgment 

Internal 
challenge 

on judgment 

Internal 
challenge at 

CMT 

External 
challenge 

Scrutiny 

Evidence 
gathering & 

judgment 

Internal 
challenge 

on judgment 

Internal 
challenge at 

CMT 

External 
challenge 

Scrutiny 

SER Question # 
Evidence and 
judgment 

 ESLT              

 CRPPH             According to 

 SMB                CO structure 

 SLT 

 TBC 

Scrutiny 

SER  

Question # 
SER  

Question # 

SER  

Question # 

On completion of the 3 key questions; thematic Performance 
Board sessions would be scheduled in Months 12-13 - here there 

would be challenge on the overall position statement 

Months  
1-2  

Month 3 

Month 4 

Months  
5-6  

Months  
9-10  

Month 7 Month 11 

Month 8 Month 12 

Appendix 1 

P
age 11



Performance Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Analysis of commonalities     Report to CMT to identify support needed to drive 
improvement 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BEST START 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

WORKING LIFE 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
WELLBEING 

Overall Position Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

LIVING WELL 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for 
Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

 

SUMMONING 

CIRCLE 

Best Start 

Working Life 

Environmental Wellbeing 

Living Well 

Finance & 
Accounting 

HR & Legal 

ICT 

Corporate Communications 

Page 12



 

Version 3 

 

                                                                                                                             

  

Question 1:  Outcomes 

Community Regeneration, Public Protection & Housing 

SUMMARY STATEMENT 

 
 

 

 

 

1.1 How good are outcomes for the community? ADEQUATE 

1.2 Is there evidence of continuous improvement or excellence 
in customer results? 

ADEQUATE 

1.3 How has the service improved the wellbeing and attitudes 
towards learning of children and young people? 

NOT APPLICABLE 

 

PLEASE REMEMBER:  

When completing your form, please try to be evaluative rather than descriptive and focus on the impact and 

outcomes for people and the environment.  In your evaluation identify what you consider to be strengths 

and areas for improvement and be brief, referencing the supporting evidence. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council 

 

Self-Evaluation Report  

Question 1: Outcomeso

n 1: 

Governance (for Performance & Scrutiny use only) 

                  Date: 

Form completed and received:  16/07/2019      

Internal challenge - session:   02/08/2019      

Corporate Management Team session:         00/00/0000                                      

Reviewed at Scrutiny:           10/09/2019 

Page 13



 

Version 3 

 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 
     
     

Question 1.1:  How good are outcomes for the community? 
 
 
 

 
<Insert judgment> 

     

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 Wellbeing objectives; 

 Current performance, comparable data, trends 

 Historic results, benchmark data 

 Similar providers 

 

 
 
 
EMPLOYABILITY 

 The Employability Team directly contributes to the Local Authorities Well Being Objectives.   Our objectives are linked 
to Working Life and our contributors are number of people engaged in employability related activity, people gaining a 
qualification in work and out of work and job outcomes. 

 The service area has been supporting the developments linked to the Cwm Taf Well Being Plan – Strong Economy. 

 The Employability Team deliver a number of different programmes.  These programmes have been developed over the 
last few years and allow the local authority to delivery to anyone within the borough.  Where specialised services are 
required to complement our delivery then we have extensive knowledge to signpost to other organisations/agencies. 

 The Employability service is very focussed on performance to enable the local authority to draw down the ESF Grant 
funding and Welsh Government Funding.  Performance is good in all programmes.  Some programmes are exceeding 
targets with regards engagements and job outcomes for local people.  Most programmes develiered are also delivered 
across South East Wales and on a National Level.  

 The service has been keen to capture wellbeing data using the corporate wellbeing toolkit.  This has been in place since 
August 2017 and has been maintained until now. 

 The Employability Service has been innovative in developing its service to compliment other service areas within the 
local authority.   This includes supporting Social Services, Education and Housing.  This has been a missed opportunity 
over the years however Employability is gaining momentum and kudos within the local authority whilst maximising 
opportunities for local people being supported by other departments. 

 Partnership working has a key focus for Employability.  The Service area has strong links locally with agencies, 
organisations and employers (national and local) 

 Funding can often be a challenge however funding has been secured until 2022 for most programmes with the 
exception of Communities for Work Plus which is granted on an annual basis.  It is imperative that the service area 
starts to plan now for future funding beyond 2022. 

 A recent review of the Employability structure has allowed various different focuses being aligned and fit for purpose.   
Recently the Aspire Shared Apprenticeship Programme and the Economic Growth Strategy & Partnership have been 
aligned to Employability Service Area.  

 Work is underway with other service areas to map outcomes through the delivery of Children and Communities Grant 
that contribute to the corporate wellbeing objectives.  This allowing different service areas who all delivery on tackling 
poverty to come together and learn more about resources available to local people and opportunities to collaborate 
internally and externally.  This is in its early stages but very positive.  

 Over the years, the Employability service has developed a positive reputation regarding the development of bespoke 
recruitment support for local employers and new inward investment.  The model of delivery has proven very successful 
not only for local people but also employers.  It has created an opportunity for local people to gain employment where 
perhaps they would not have succeeded in making a mainstream application with an employer. The model of delivery 
can be adapted to work for any sector. 

  

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Page 14



 

Version 3 

 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 
Current services delivered include: 

 Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme (TRI) – grant funding to bring vacant or underutilised commercial or 
residential properties back into beneficial use in the Town Centre area. 

 Business Loans – Short term finance to support applicants to bring vacant properties back into use in the Town Centre 
Area. 

 Housing Loans – Houses into Homes and Home Improvement Loans to make residential properties safe, warm and 
secure. 

 Meanwhile – Pop up test trading for new businesses or businesses that are new to the area. 

 Capital Grants – Capital equipment grants for businesses. 

 Orbit Business Centre – Only A1 building in the Local Authority area. 

 Business Support – Enterprise Board, Business incubation to growth for sustainable business outputs 

 Inward Investment - Partner Referrals – e.g. Welsh Ice, Business Wales 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 The service makes a direct contribution to our wellbeing objectives through ‘business as usual’ as our activities are 
solely focussed on protecting and improving public health for residents and visitors to the Borough. 

 The department makes a direct contribution to the Wellbeing Objective Working Life by improving food safety in the 
Borough and increasing the number of broadly compliant food businesses and also by assisting in bringing the number 
of long term empty properties brought back into use. Both are featured as KPI’s in the Working Life SOAP 

 The department makes a direct contribution to the wellbeing objective Environmental Wellbeing through the 
introduction of an air quality management area (AQMA) and air quality action plan (AQAP) designed to reduce nitrogen 
dioxide levels on Twynyrodyn Hill below the maximum levels stipulated in the national air quality objective. 

 As a service we always adopt the 5 ways of working, taking immediate action in the short term to remove risks to public 
health and looking long term to improve public health outcomes through prevention and new ways of working. We 
adopt an integrated approach and collaborate internally with other services and with a wide variety of outside 
organisations (e.g.) 

 the wider context the service makes a direct contribution to the PSB Cwm Taff Well Being Plan through 
activities which help people live long and healthy lives (e.g.) tackling air pollution and working with Public 
Health Wales to demonstrate that pollution; poor health and deprivation are inextricably linked where more 
deprived individuals and communities can be disproportionately affected by poor air quality. Working to 
develop a tool to identify areas for action that are different in location scale and size from local air quality 
management areas declared through existing processes; and 

 making a contribution to the PSB cross-cutting objective of tackling loneliness and isolation through the 
development of the local Toilet Strategy. 

 We work to ensure a level playing field for all types of  business and providing advice and support to help them thrive 

 Providing vital technical support to other services such as planning and licensing to ensure developments and events 
are successful.  

 We have had a difficult last 12 months with 3 members of staff on maternity leave, the retirement of a very 
experienced member of staff who was instrumental in developing the AQAP and one member of staff taking VER. We 
have had difficulty recruiting suitable members of staff to the vacant posts. This has meant that services to the public 
have had to be cut (e.g.) loss of the dog warden service which has resulted in public backlash.  Complaints about the 
service have increased as the remaining officers have struggled to keep pace with demand.  We are now in a position 
where posts have been filled but there is a void of experience in key areas.  

 Wales Audit Office (WAO) have recently commented that we have suffered from a loss of 5.5 full time equivalent 
members of staff since 2014 this has now increased to 6.5. They also note that despite the decreases in budget there 
has been a consistent under spend which they conclude is as a result of having to find efficiencies to help balance the 
Councils budget. The reduction in staffing and finance need to be considered against a background of increasing 
statutory duties. The overall findings of the follow up review are that environmental health resources have reduced and 
the Council cannot demonstrate that it is delivering all its statutory environmental health services. 

Key achievements in the last 12 months include: 

 Completion of 100% of our high risk food safety and standards inspections 

 Increased the percentage of food businesses rated 5 under the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS). 

 All FHRS appeals and re-rating requests have been dealt with within statutory timescales. 

 Completed an externally funded programme of bespoke training with Chinese takeaways who have struggled to 
provide takeaway meals without the presence of allergens. The training was a great success, as identified by mystery 
shopper sampling, with the takeaways either being able to provide meals without the requested allergen being present, 

Page 15



 

Version 3 

 

or having the knowledge and confidence to advise the customer that they could not do this safety. 

 Completed an inspection programme of all of the tattooists and body piercers in the Borough. 

 Completed a national project on cellar safety which resulted in immediate action to prevent risk to health and safety of 
employees and members of the public. 

 Implemented the AQAP in conjunction with the Council’s Highways Engineers.  

 Investment in training to meet competency requirements (e.g.) 2 officers trained in the inspection of petrol stations to 
improve resilience, another 2 officers trained as lead auditors, IPPC permit training for new officer, drainage 
investigations, lead officer communicable disease programme, Hand Arm Vibration for this year’s health and safety 
project interventions etc. 

 Successfully managed 11 outbreaks of infectious disease and provided advice to an additional 75 individual confirmed 
cases to prevent on ward spread in the community. 

 Maintained the level of broadly compliant premises. 

 Inspected all of the permitted processes within the requisite timescale. 

 Issued our first Small Waste Incineration Permit. 

 Successfully oversaw the remediation of the land in Pontsticill following a significant oil spillage 

 Supported Directors of Public Protection (DPPW) at high level meetings on the Food Standards Agency’s ‘Regulating our 
Future’ Programme; including the Minister’s working group. 

 Took 31 food samples for analysis as part of a regional sampling programme. 

 Produced an annual air quality report endorsed by Welsh Government.    

 Have taken 5 successful prosecutions (4 for food safety and 1 health and safety.) 

 Provided support to Planning and Licensing by commenting on applications and attending committees and ESAG as 
necessary. 

 Assisted in bringing more than 40 empty properties back into use. 

 Produced and published a Food Safety Service Plan. 

 Produced a Health and Safety Intervention Plan. 

 Produced and published the local Toilet Strategy.  

 Officers attended and participated in the DPPW Experts Panels including Air Pollution, Contaminated Land, Housing, 
Health and Safety, Communicable Disease and Food Safety.  

 Undertook 2 successful public consultation exercises on the proposed traffic management options for the AQAP and 
the Local Toilet Strategy. 

 Got our bee project up and running with 2 populated bee hives. 

 Supported up and coming students by offering a 3 month placement to a Food Science undergraduate from Cardiff 
Metropolitan University. 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 The team makes a direct contribution to the Council’s wellbeing objectives, and both the YMCA and Cyfarthfa Heritage 
Area have been identified as key wellbeing projects by the Change and Wellbeing Steering Group.  

Key achievements over the past 12 months include: 

 Secured £9.8m for the development of the Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station through the Welsh Government’s Local Transport 
Fund.  

 Secured a Stage 1 National Lottery Heritage Fund application pass for the re-development of the YMCA.  The proposal is 
to create 10 new office spaces within the property.  The Stage 2 application was submitted in May 2019.  

 Arbed am Byth have been appointed by the Welsh Government to arrange the installation of energy efficiency 
measures, like central heating or insulation in homes across Wales as part of the Welsh Government Warm Homes - 
Arbed scheme.  The team has worked closely with Arbed on community engagement events in the targeted areas of 
Twyn and Penydarren.   Homes targeted include E, F and G energy rated properties.  

 An application has been submitted to Valleys Regional Park to fund the re-development of the Canolfan, the 
preservation of the Cyfarthfa Leat and to enhance the foundation economy within the Park and Heritage Area.  

 8 flats have been created on the former Labour Exchange Site through a VVP funding allocation.   

 The Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan, which aims to create Merthyr as a place of regional, national and international 
significance, has been developed and tendered and the project will go live in September 2019.  

 Green Flag has been awarded to Cyfarthfa Park for another year.  

 A Taff Bargoed Development Strategy and Action Plan have been developed and will now progress to delivery stage.  

 Development work and engagement has been undertaken on key historic buildings within the Town Centre including 
the Synagogue, General Hospital and St. Tydfil’s Hospital Site.  

 A Town Centre Masterplan has been developed identifying key sites for development over the next 10 – 15 years.  

  

Page 16



 

Version 3 

 

 A perception survey was undertaken on the Town Centre in 2017.  The Evening Economy Group was been established in 
2018 to deliver on key actions identified within the survey to improve perceptions within the Town Centre.  

 The Townscape Heritage Project is now on site at the The Vulcan Inn undertaking capital works to the property.  The 
purpose of the scheme is to regenerate heritage buildings based within Pontmorlais and the Conservation Area.  

 As part of the Townscape Heritage Scheme a number of children’s workshops have been held including craft workshops 
and tours of Pontmorlais for education purposes to learn about the history of the area.  

 A series of successful events have been delivered in the Town Centre including the Christmas event, Chilli Fiesta and 
Food Festival. 

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 The European & External Funding Team effectively contributes towards the Council’s ‘Wellbeing Objectives’ in a 
number of ways ranging from the development of or enhancement of key social enterprises focussed on improving 
social cohesion and engagement to improving the overall destination to be enjoyed by the wider communities 
throughout Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Collectively as a team within the Community Regeneration Department we try to approach all tasks by using the ‘five 
ways of working’ principle as well as elements of reflective assessment of individual practices. In addition, feedback 
from our clients and stakeholders is also considered with improvements made concerning the practice of the team 
going forward – driven by the Programme Manager. 

 The overall team has seen experienced members leave over the last 12months which has had a slight detrimental effect 
over a short period of time whilst those posts were being filled. However, all posts (besides one) have been filled by 
experienced individuals so the team is near enough working at full capacity. 

 Historically, the European & External Funding Team has hit the majority of annual targets set with the number of social 
enterprises supported being in line with those targets set, the impact of the tourism industry on Merthyr Tydfil’s 
economy continuing to grow (STEAM 2018) and spend and number of projects on the Rural Action Programme on sync. 

 From a sustainability perspective the team are now near full capacity and have a number of key projects to deliver over 
the coming years. With resources potentially decreasing over the next two years this may have an adverse effect on the 
performance of the European & External Funding Team going forward. 

 Partnership working across the cohort of teams is vastly important to some of the success of the last 12 months and to 
the future projects that we are looking to develop. As a collective team we work with a large number of support 
agencies and the private sector in order to deliver on key services and projects driven by the ethos of partnership 
working and shared resources – a majority of which is coordinated by key officers within the European & External 
Funding Team (MTSEN, Destination Partnership Group & ancillary Sub Groups, RDP LAG etc.). 

Key achievements over the past 12 months include: 
 

European & External Funding: 

 Successful in obtaining €180,000 of EU Interreg VB grant funding (€300,000 total project cost) for the SuNSE Project 
which was also successful launch in September 2018 in Edinburgh.  

 Successful in obtaining €225,000 of EU Atlantic Area grant funding (€300,000 total project cost) for the Trail Gazers 
Project which was also successful launch in June 2019 in County Donegal, Ireland.  

 Assisted x3 social enterprises (TACT, Penydarrren B&G Club and CAB) in accessing large sums of grant finance (over 
£200,000) during this reporting period. 

 Assisted x3 social enterprises (TBDT, MT Tennis Club and Penygarn Park) in accessing between £40,000 to £100,000 of 
grant finance for projects within their respective communities.  

Destination Management: 

 The European & External Funding Team took over the ‘Visit’ social media platforms (Facebook & Twitter), aligning it to 
the then new Visit Merthyr Website. More recently, we have also established a Merthyr Instagram account. All social 
media follow-ship figures have increased significantly over this period.  

 Following the launch of the latest Visit Merthyr website, undertaken continual website functionality upgrades and 
ongoing delivery of tourism related communication updates  

 Completed a comprehensive Diagnostic Review and report of the Accommodation Sector for MTCBC and the Cwm Taff 
Public Service Board 

 RTEF (Visit Wales) Grant project closure and output claim delivery for the secured two year festival support for Merthyr 
Rising totalling £50,000 

 Piloted an Activity Blogger/Vlogger weekend for marketing coverage featuring a partnership project with BikePark 
Wales, Rock UK and Parkwood Outdoors Dolygaer 

 Creation of a brand new Visit Merthyr Official Visitor Guide to be launched at Destination Day 

 Creation of a brand new Digital Interactive Visit Merthyr map to be launched at Destination Day 

 Delivery of five Town Centre Lamp-post Banner campaigns with varying themes.  

 Regional Tourism Project Campaign Partnerships – Collaborative campaign delivery and successful funding bid 

Page 17



 

Version 3 

 

developments for Visit Wales RTEF South Wales Tourism Marketing Hub, The Valleys and The Discover the Cambrian 
Way Marketing campaign. 

 Grant and accommodation support for six business start-up/existing accommodation businesses, one if which will be 
having a soft opening launch event imminently. 

RDP: 

 BEES Co-operation Project – completed now being evaluated 

 Digital Communities Project complete 

 x2 New projects in Ynysybwl – Lady Windsor SuDS £20,000  Green Connections £16,000 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Protection and Safety Services (PASS) contribute to the Working Life and Living Well Wellbeing objectives through the 
protection of our community from crime and ensuring a level playing field for business in undertaking their statutory 
Duties. 

 The five ways of working are imbedded into our working practices. We are always looking at best ways to prevent 
individuals becoming victims of crime and to be better protected, the services are integrated alongside other public 
bodies in delivering on common themes and joint action plans. Our collaborative working both internally on joint council 
plans and externally with partner agencies ensures that a small resource is used effectively. 

 The service looks at Prevention, Intelligence and Enforcement products as core to delivering on our wellbeing goals.  

 The Service works with external partners and strategic assessments are used to focus on service provision where the 
need is most.  

 CCTV has become a recent addition to PASS portfolio. We are looking to mobilise the unit as the ‘eyes’ of the Authority 
across all service areas. 

 The Service has contributed in re modelling itself and contributing to the Authorities efficiency agenda. This has seen 
over 50% cuts to the Service areas.  By adapting our delivery model to an intelligence led service we continue to meet the 
needs of the community which include businesses and residents/visitors. We pride that each £ spent is best used for the 
needs of the community. PASS are now at a point where any further cuts could impact on the Authority failing to meet its 
statutory duties. 

Key achievements over past 12 months include: 

 Major Fraud investigation resulted in prosecution of an offender whose fraud represented a £1.5 million loss to business. 
The defendant was given 16 months imprisonment and is now subject to a Proceeds of Crime Investigation. 

 Premise Closure Order made on a premise selling illegal tobacco products and psychoactive substances. 

 Reacting to national concerns when engaging in Operation Sceptre relating to knife crime. A test purchase operation was 
undertaken to ascertain if business were properly policing the sale of knives preventing sales to children. 

 Participation in National survey on Supermarket weighing equipment on the initiation of the newly formed government 
department Office of Product Safety and Standards.  

 Supporting businesses to compliance. We worked on a project to ascertain whether businesses were selling E Cigarettes 
to minors, we discovered a high failure rate. After working with the businesses on improving staff training and 
introducing procedures a later survey showed a 100% compliance rate. 

 Anti-Social Behaviour was noted at our Skate park with right wing graffiti being sprayed onto the venue. Event took place 
where young users took ownership of the park through a project repainting with a street artist and a learning exercise on 
community inclusion. 

 Premise closure Order on an RSL property that was causing ASB to neighbours in the area. 

 Continuing development of the Drug App. The app identified an issue with the use of MDMA. Intelligence used by South 
Wales Police which resulted in successful arrest of a dealer in that area. 

 Our COMPASS Scam prevention work identifies possible vulnerable victims and interventions are then put in place 
protecting them from further fraud. 

 Welsh Government has expressed concerns on levels of gambling. We worked with the Gambling Commission to 
ascertain where children could access gambling machines. Project undertaken and venues where sales took place given 
appropriate warnings and business support. 

 903 License applications vetted and issued by Licensing team with 100% meeting statutory timeframe. 

 Alcohol survey to establish if being sold to underage conducted at off licence premises. 

 Operation Avalanche – Taxi Operation over the winter period ensuring customers could travel safely through the festive 
period. 

 Merthyr Rising – Licensing key in the safe running of the Rising festival. 

 Partnership working with the Licensed Trade at Event planning and through the Pubwatch scheme. 
 

  

Page 18



 

Version 3 

 

 11 successful prosecutions over the period relating to counterfeit goods, unsafe toys, unlicensed taxis and unlicensed 
scrap collectors.Key contributor to the Late Night Economy Masterplan “Merthyr after Dark” and the Events Safety 
Advisory Group. 

 We are the home authority to one of the largest abattoirs in Europe. We pass intelligence on welfare concerns arriving at 
the abattoir to Local Authorities across the UK.  

 Our grant funded Community Cohesion Officer works across Cwm Taf. We have been key partners in Community 
Cohesion projects. We worked with South Wales Police during Hate Crime Awareness Week engaging with the public at 
business centres, leisure services and colleges (830 attendees). Worked alongside the Council’s Gypsy/Roma/Traveller 
Officer with the children on the Glynmil Gypsy/Traveller Site and created a life-size piece of art as part of a project to 
promote equality and cohesion and to increase awareness and acceptance of the local Gypsy/Traveller community.  

 Officers have undertaken the required inspections of farms as part of the Food Standards Agency Feed delivery 
programme. 

 In ensuring the safety of school children on school transport a robust DBS check and monitoring system is in place with 
75% of school contracts inspected to ensure chaperones are fully vetted.  

 We are efficient and provide value for money on procuring school transport. The latest benchmarking data places us in 
the upper quartile for low costs in all benchmarking figures for the procurement of school transport. 

There is concern over the amount of time officers have to supply the same information into the Corporate Centre as part of the 
efficiency agenda. 

Better utilisation of internal service providers would free up professional staff to carry out core front line activities. Corporate 
review of these internal services could lead to a change of internal service provision. 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Recent restructuring bringing Supporting People and Housing into one service area in line with the Housing Support 
Grant and to strengthen partnership working between areas to better outcomes for those presenting at homelessness 
services and those in need of Housing-Related Support 

 Statutory and Non statutory functions working to promote independence, reduce dependency and reduce/prevent 
homelessness in the County Borough 

 Performance data for Supporting People shows the number of people supported through the project increasing year on 
year, with a large uplift for 2018-19: 

2016-17        766  
2017-18        787 (  3% increase in requests for support on previous year) 
2018-19      1267 (38% increase in requests for support on previous year) 

       Having a 38% increase in support requests comes with its own challenges as well as the housing team seeing an increase  
       in the number of homelessness presentations up 27% from last year (530 up from 389) as the team has less resources  
       with the added challenge of more requests for support there’s additional pressure on team members.   

 Our Housing and Supporting People Team form part of the Council’s flexible funding arrangement and receive WG 
monies annually under the HSG would be useful (we also act as the operational lead for HSG to the Tackling Poverty work 
of the Operational Leads Group). 

 We have recently approved a new HMO on Merthyr to avoid the excessive use of B&B working in partnership with 
Private Developers to better experiences and reduce unnecessary LA costs. We are looking to expand this currently. 

 We have just reinstated an out of hours Housing service to improve access to quality housing advice and assistance when 
it is needed. 

 The services provided are targeted at helping people Live Well, through housing related support, appropriate 
accommodation and the information and advice facility being available as and when this is needed. 

 We have submitted and received approval for the Housing First Project for those over 18 through the WG Trailblazer 
Fund as well as the Youth Innovation Fund to commission the Young People’s Housing First project to meet needs that 
are identified locally that cannot be met through existing/mainstream provision 

 We are working closely with colleagues in Adult Services to look a developing a mixed economy Extra Care facility to 
meet the need and offer independent living for as long as possible to those living with dementia, learning /[physical 
disabilities, 50+ independent community members, etc. 

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 The subjective wellbeing scores of participants engaged in Active Merthyr Tydfil projects improved from 0.27 in 2016/17 
to 0.31 during 2017/18. 

 Use of the subjective wellbeing tool has produced evidence demonstrating a +0.27 improvement in participants’ 
subjective wellbeing (Start: 3.52 / Completion: 3.79) for 2018/19 – the programmes contributing towards the  

  

Page 19



 

Version 3 

 

improvement in wellbeing scores were the Young Leaders; Young Ambassadors; MGirls College; Teenage male-specific 
project and the Disability Sport Merthyr Forum.  All of the programmes showed increased scores individually, MGirls 
College was the biggest increase, the programme increased from 2.99 before the project began to 3.62 when the 
programme finished, which is an increase of 0.63. 

 Sport Wales Schools Sports Survey 2018 primary schools section  shows that an increase from  47.7% (Rank 11 )in 2015to 
52.7% (Rank 3) in 2018 and increase of 5%   in the “Hooked on Sport” measure, however the secondary schools element 
section shows  a decrease of 9.3% from 48.5% (Rank 10)to 39.2% in 2018 (Rank 21), thus reducing the overall “hooked 
on sport” figure for the County Borough from 48.1% (Rank 13) in 2015 to 15.9% in 2018 (Rank 15). 

 Usage for Physical Activity of Council Commissioned out services has improved from 6,350 per 1,000 population  in 
2016/17 to 6,469 per 1,000 population in 2017/18 

 That in 2018/19 the Merthyr Tydfil Library Public Service met all of the 12 core entitlements in full and of the 10 quality 
indicators which have targets, achieved 9 in full, and 1 in part.  

 Usage of Merthyr Tydfil Library Public Service has improved from 4,004 per 1,000 population in 2016/17 to 4,375 per 
1,000 population in 2017/18. 

 Usage of the Cyfarthfa Park Museum and Gallery has improved from 46,349in 2016/17 to 63,708 in 2017/18 

 Library services are delivered by Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust on behalf of the Borough Council. The service has continued 
to perform well under this arrangement in this first year of the sixth framework; user satisfaction remains high, and 
usage levels have generally improved. 

 User satisfaction for the Library Service in 2017/18 was 99%. 

 User satisfaction for the Sports and Leisure Facilities in 2017/18 was 90% 

 User satisfaction for the Cultural Facilities in 2017/18 was 99% 

 94% of Library service users thought that the service has made a difference to their lives. 

 96% of users of reported improvements to their health and fitness as a result of using the Council’s commissioned 
facilities. 

 The Team works in partnership both with other departments across the Council and with external partners.  Examples of 
these are: 

 New links with local schools have been made with these schools keen to utilise the courts in the new academic year 
alongside coach education and the Urdd have launched a welsh language Tennis provision also; and 

 The Thomastown Tennis court redevelopment a 4 way project with Active Merthyr, The Council External Funding Team, 
Tennis Wales and the Merthyr Tennis Club “This project is a great example of collaborative working, internally and with 
key stakeholders, providing fantastic opportunities for our local residents to enjoy."  Active Merthyr worked with Merthyr 
Tennis club for a long time and have previously struggled to engage the club into meaningful development.  With support 
from Economic Regeneration and MTCBC’s Cabinet, the Club has been supported with new courts and as a result 
engaged with Active Merthyr more positively. 

 The Disability Sports Forum Team has had an action packed first 6 months.  They have supported no fewer than 10 
different events across Merthyr and Cwm Taf and have launched two of their own projects so far.  This includes Active 
Wheels, a new social Cycling project for disabled adults. They also featured as a case study in National Volunteers week.  
7 of the members have undertaken an employability programme with Swansea City FC Community Trust, the outcome 
being they gained qualifications in Principles of Coaching, First Aid, Disability Inclusion Training and Health and Nutrition.  

The team were invited to a Swansea City game and featured in the match day programme. 
 Following some workforce development workshops facilitated by Sport Wales both Sport RCT and Active Merthyr 

identified families as the priority workforce to engage.  Following this a project has been developed to create an online 
tool that will support families to get active.  This tool will provide opportunities, ideas and resources to get active.  To 
ensure the tool meets the need Sport RCT and Active Merthyr have undertaken a survey to gather view on content.  This 
survey, along with face to face consultation to back it up, will demonstrate what families need/want to support them to 
get more active, thus ensuring that the community and the participant are at the heart of planning. 

 I have included some information around the services and how they use the 5 ways of working:  

Collaboration - partnership working both with internal partners across the Council to map need and understand what 
services need to deliver and how to maximise impact, and with wider partnerships; Housing First Steering Groups to 
meet broad ranging needs, Strategic meetings with RSLS and PSLs to develop new innovative schemes, look into modern 
methods of construction, decarbonisation, etc. 
Integration - departmental restructure took place to align services to complement each other better and have a more 
joined up approach to accommodation and support services. We also work well regionally where we have recently 
commissioned our first Cwm Taf Dementia Project and are in the process of retendering our hostel provision on a 
regional level, given the similar size, capacity, and costs across each LA area to create a more effective and inclusive 
model of emergency accommodation across Cwm Taf.  

  

Page 20



 

Version 3 

 

Prevention – we recruited an early intervention and prevention officer to work with young people and those at risk of 
homelessness to better understanding of the reality of housing and homelessness, the challenges and support available, 
the officer also works to increase our use of PRS to offer more appropriate accommodation to those in housing need. We 
are also using our needs and housing data to inform the services we commission to avoid escalation into crisis, i.e. 
commissioning an adult mediation worker project to prevent the high number of familial breakdowns with adult children 
living at home resulting in homelessness. 
Long-term – as we recommission and tender our services we are planning for the future needs of those not only already 
accessing services under flexible funding, but also those who may need to use our support and statutory services in the 
future including prevention activity and raising awareness and bettering understanding of housing and homelessness in 
schools, across internal departments and with colleagues in the statutory and third sectors. We are currently working 
closely with Children’s Services (CS) to plan for future commissioning utilising data from those currently engaged with CS 
identifying potential future needs and accommodation options. 
Involvement – We involved partners and internal departments in developing service specifications, reviewing services 
and our commissioning plans and strategies. Annual service user engagement is undertaken, as well as through strategic 
reviews of services where stakeholder and customer engagement feedback is taken and used to shape how support is 
delivered, we recently invited young people to join our tender evaluation process for our young person’s floating support 
SP contract and will continue to do so 

 
 
 
EMPLOYABILITY 

 Established method of tracking wellbeing showing distance travelled. 

 Pre-Employment delivery for local employers and new inward investment remains a key theme of delivery.  This allows 
us to develop bespoke packages of training with a guaranteed interview for participants taking part. 

 Establishing links with Employability to other services areas within the local authority.   

 Robust management information systems which allow us to report outputs quickly and accurately. 

 Service area is actively involved in the establishment of SOAP’s.  This demonstrates good leadership which develops 
ownership of outputs within the team but also ensures that a full understanding of strategic/corporate aims is fully 
understood.  It allows us to clearly see how we contribute to the success of the local authority.   

 Employability Programmes has been designed regionally allowing provision to safely managed by lead organisations 
minimising risk of claw back. 

 Focus on Performance has been introduced which allows managers to have direct dialogue with staff on individual 
outputs.  This is proving very valuable where staff is experiencing difficulties and provides another level of dialogue to 
discuss caseloads and alternative avenues to explore with participants. 

 Development of different projects has allowed us to offer services that have traditionally supported unemployed 
people be opened up to people who are in work and are experiencing in work poverty. 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Business Start-ups – Merthyr Tydfil is number 1 in Wales for business start-ups 

 Meanwhile – other areas are looking to replicate this scheme 

 Referral rates to partner agencies 

 Orbit Centre – Only A1 building in the Local Authority area.  100% occupancy and high booking demand. 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 Consultation exercises for AQAP and toilet strategy particularly successful in engaging stakeholders.  

 Toilet strategy resulted in construction of a corporate contact resource for future consultations. 

 Received acknowledgement in an academic article “A pragmatic public-health driven approach to enhance local air 
quality risk assessment in Wales, UK” (Environmental Science and Policy – published February 2019. 

 Cross departmental working to deliver a number of shared outcomes e.g. empty homes project which has the potential 
to reduce the number of long term vacant properties by bringing properties back into use for the rental market or sale. 
This will in turn have a positive impact on the local environment, mental wellbeing and boost the local economy. 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 In order to support the development of the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area, the Design Commission for Wales has been 
commissioned as a key partner.  The role has included brief development, significant knowledge of design included in 
all developments and support for engagement and community led events.  

 The team has a strong working relationship with community groups and stakeholders that enables and encourages 
effective consultation, engagement and support for project delivery.  

 Have effective partnerships for the Town Centre and Taff Bargoed to support the delivery of any masterplans, 
strategies and projects 

Good Practice: 

Page 21



 

Version 3 

 

 The Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing Board has been established to monitor programme and 
project delivery.   

 Strong working relationships have been established with funders to support project development and delivery.  

 Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre has a Business Improvement District.  

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 The European & External Funding Team have simplified the process of developing transnational projects; primarily via 
email and telephone conferences rather than attended physical meetings. The development of both SuNSE and Trail 
Gazers Projects were all undertaken via one introductory meeting of partners and further enhanced via email and 
telephone. The Team will continue with this process going forward if any further project comes to light. 

 With regards to the SuNSE Project (focussed on social enterprise development) it has strategically aligned itself to the 
Merthyr Tydfil Enterprise Centre (MTEC) managed by Tydfil Training. Through this ‘strategic alignment’ MTEC now offers 
social enterprises a ‘face to face’ support scheme so that they can develop their business ideas, diversify and / or expand 
their business via advice and business planning support. This has resulted in many social enterprises gaining conclusive 
Business Plans which have been used to access significant amounts of grant finance over the last 12 months. 

 The European & External Funding Team led on a Diagnostic Review exercise across the Cwm Taf region (Merthyr Tydfil 
and RCT) where both accommodation and attraction businesses were asked to complete a set questionnaire which 
resulted in a report / graphs being developed by the department. The report and finding were presented to the Cwm Taf 
PSB as well as internally within both Councils and consequently received really well.  

 The current Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan (DMP) is seen as an exemplar strategy in Wales with other 
Council’s looking to replicate its structure and consultation processes. The European & External Funding Team 
Programme Manager is currently going through the process of writing a new DMP which will be ready by the end of 2019. 

 As part of the new DMP, a framework for developing new Sub Groups to lead on the ‘plans’ Programme of Priorities were 
developed. One of those ‘Sub Groups’ – Destination Marketing & Events Group has worked extremely well over the past 
12 months and has developed some excellent projects and joint initiatives. These will be captured in the above new DMP.  

 The new Visit Merthyr Website and innovative Interactive Map are deemed as being excellent examples of a respective 
‘visit’ website and interactive map. Again, other Councils are looking to duplicate both online platforms with the 
European & External Funding Team Destination Management Coordinator sharing her experiences with other Council 
officers. 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 In delivering its services PASS operate the Intelligence Operating Model which allows us to grade, sanitise and develop 
intelligence. By adopting the model we are also able to exchange Intelligence with other law enforcement partners who 
have confidence in our professional ability. The majority of our Officers have Professional Qualifications in Investigative 
Practice and undertake their work in compliance with legal requirements such as Court Procedure and Investigations Act, 
Regulatory Investigations Act and ensuring our work is in compliance with the Human Rights Act. 

 PASS teams use the full range of investigation techniques including overt and covert surveillance methods. 

 PASS teams work together applying all their enforcement tools to tackle community issues. 

 Pass working in an integrated approach with partners who include Police, Border Force, HMRC, National Crime Agency, 
DVLA and DWP. 

 PASS are key partners on a range of Multi Agency fora such as the Local Organised Crime Board, Problem Solving Group, 
Violent Crime Reduction Group, Cwm Taf Community Safety Board and Area Planning Boards, Multi Agency Child Sex 
Exploitation group. 

 Although there are no PI’s in place for the Service analytical data suggests that the preventative work we carry out into 
Doorstep Crime and Fraud has seen reported incidents are 50% lower than nearest neighbours. 

 Key member at the Community Regeneration, Public Protection and Housing Board (CRPPH).  A forum for service areas to 
work holistically at living well issues. 

 Participants at national forums including the Welsh Heads of Trading Standards and the Licensing Expert Panel ensuring we 
are always up to date on developments and legal changes. 

 By utilising intelligence we are providing a service tailored to the needs of the community and not a “we always do it this 
way” service. PASS utilise tasking meetings to assess live intelligence and react accordingly. 

 Working smarter with less by engaging with partner agencies on core themes. 

 Effective School Transport procurement providing value for money. 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Effective partnership working with internal departments including Children’s and Adults Services ensuring services 
commissioned are based on need and delivered effectively, better planning to be less relative to crises and work more 
preventatively. 

 Effective regional working and commissioning where appropriate  

 Positive outcomes received and more people receiving support year on year  

Page 22



 

Version 3 

 

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2018/19. 

 Active Merthyr Tydfil Case studies and Impact report 2018/19. 

 Welsh Public Libraries Report 2018/19 Case Studies 

 National Exercise Referral Scheme Report 2017/18 and Case Study 

 Support offered to support the relaunch and development of Merthyr Tri Club; a community led triathlon training club 

 The ‘Food and Fun’ Club initiative undertaken in collaboration with Goitre Primary School, Merthyr Tydfil’s Schools 
Catering Department; Active Merthyr Tydfil and the Local Public Health Team. 

 
 
 
EMPLOYABILITY 

 Project specific performance information depicting individual projects progress towards targets.  This includes regional 
performance information as well as an overall local authority employability output sheets which is produced monthly. 

 Delivery information on various pre-employment courses delivered 

 Well Being assessment toolkit 

 Well Bring assessment results 

 Strategy on a Page to depict our contribution 

 SLA demonstrating service links to Housing 

 Completed Focus on Performance records 

 Draft outcome framework linked to Children and Communities Grant. 

 Past scrutiny reports depicting wellbeing data 

 WAO feedback presentation 

 Pre-Employment course schedules 

 Positive press articles regarding pre-employment work with local employers, i.e. Marks & Spencer 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Meanwhile Schemes 

 Number of Business Loans offered 

 Number of Housing Loans offered 

 Number of capital grants offered 

 Number of Business Starts 

 Enterprise Development Service Level Agreement 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 Food Standards Agency (FSA) Full Audit Report February 2019 

 WAO Report December 2018 

 Report to Audit Committee June 2019 

 Annual data return to WG (PAMS 023, 013 and 014) 

 LAEMS 

 LAE1 

 Working Life SOAP 

 Environmental Wellbeing SOAP 

 Internal monitoring exercises 

 Attendance/Reports to Council 

 Attendance/Reports to Scrutiny 

 Attendance at CMT 

 Feedback from customer surveys and in social media. 

 Public Consultations 

 Huw Brunt, Sarah J. Jones “A pragmatic public health-driven approach to enhance local air quality management risk 
assessment in Wales, UK” Environmental Science and Policy published February 2019 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 Crucible Report  

 Cyfarthfa Masterplan Brief  

 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Scrutiny Report (Exempt) 

 Valleys Regional Park application  

 www.arbedambyth.wales 

 YMCA Stage 1 NLHF application  

Evidence: 

Page 23



 

Version 3 

 

 Building for the Future YMCA application  

 YMCA Cabinet Reports (Exempt)  

 Taff Bargoed Regeneration Strategy and Action Plan  

 TH Stage 2 NLHF application  

 BID Action Plan  

 Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre Action Plan  

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 SuNSE Project Application, Offer Letter and Partnership Agreement 

 Trail Gazers Project Application, Offer Letter and Partnership Agreement 

 Grant Offer Letters for various social enterprises that have received funding from £40,000 to £300,000 

 Community Regeneration SOAP 2018-19 & Sub-SOAP 2018-19 

 Current Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan 

 Framework and PowerPoint for the new Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan 

 Diagnostic Review Report for Cwm Taf (including graphs and actual PowerPoint)  

 New Visit Merthyr Guide 

 Visit Merthyr Website (www.visitmerthyr.co.uk)  

 Visit Merthyr Interactive Map 

 2018 STEAM Data 

 Agendas, Minutes and Action Plans of numerous meetings over the past 12 months 

 Feedback emails from senior officers, Councillors, external stakeholders and clients 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Scrutiny Reports - Reports    Reports    Reports 

 Legal prosecution reports   

 Social Media (Corporate Accounts) 

 Welsh Heads of Trading Standards Strategic Assessment and Tactical Assessments (Restricted) 

 Tasking documents. (Restricted) 

 Intelligence reports (Restricted) 

 Transport Benchmarking Data 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Housing statistics  - WHO 12 statistics  

 SP Referral data 

 Partnership meeting panels agenda and notes 

 Grant offer letters and contracts for new services  

 Customer feedback and regional service user consultation information  

 SOAPs and sub SOAPs 

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 Warwick Edinburgh wellbeing measures data collection sheet 2018/19. 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2018/19. 

 Active Merthyr Tydfil Case studies and Impact report 2018/19 

 Welsh Public Libraries Report 2018/19 

 Leisure Trust quarterly Performance Reports 2018/19 

 National Survey of Wales 2018. 

 PAMs (PAM/017; PAM/040; PAM/041 and PAM/042) 

     

 
 
 

EMPLOYABILITY 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 Evaluate participants experiences and feedback to the team to improve service and provide positive feedback 

 Further identify areas within Children and Communities Grant to develop innovate ways of joining up services. 

 To establish partner focussed outputs to demonstrate impact of work within the Economic Growth Partnership 

 To focus on future funding sources over the coming years 

Areas for Development: 

Page 24

http://www.visitmerthyr.co.uk/
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=383&MId=3219&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=383&MId=2972&Ver=4&LLL=0
https://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=383&MId=2974&Ver=4&LLL=0
file://///mtcbcfs/MIMS/Self%20Evaluation%20-%20PASS/Benchmarking%20data.xlsx


 

Version 3 

 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Enterprise Development Service Level Agreement 

 TRI Programme 

 Business Loans 

 Housing Loans 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 Evaluate the service against the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health Practice Standards. This will enable us to 
demonstrate whether we are meeting out statutory functions (as required by the WAO report) and where there are 
shortfalls that need to be addressed. This will also help inform our priorities for improvement. Report findings to Audit 
Committee September 2019. 

 Participate in Food Standards Agency’s on line pilot of Register a Food Business (RAFB) Which will support the Regulating 
our Future Programme. This should ensure the customer has a consistent experience, reduce the time taken to 
administer registrations and help signpost the customer to business specific advice.  

 Succession Planning. 
 Ways to improve accountability of Central Services so that they better support and meet the needs of the department. 
 Review of authorisations and competencies to meet the requirements of the new Code of Practice and EU Exit and the 

action plan produced in response to the FSA full audit. 

 Development new employees who are lacking in knowledge and experience so that the service is sustainable going 
forward. 

 Review of fees and charges. 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 Target key vacant historic buildings within the Town Centre for development and develop relationships with private 
sector owners and developers in order to regenerate these buildings.  This will help secure funding from Welsh 
Government and other funding programmes.  

 Review the Town Centre Partnership and the priorities for focus and development over the next year.  
 Continue to identify projects for delivery across the County Borough for there to always be a pipeline of projects for 

development and delivery.  
 Review the Town Centre events to ensure that sufficient resources are available to support events in line with the 

MTCBC Events Policy and ESAG.  
 Reinvigorate the Taff Bargoed Regeneration Partnership by reviewing Terms of Reference and membership to ensure 

the effective delivery of the Action Plan 

 Review and develop key projects for delivery within the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area through the recommendations of the 
masterplan.   

 Consultation on the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan through an approved Communications Strategy.  

 Consultation on the Town Centre Masterplan through an approved Communications Strategy.  

 Consultation on the Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station through an approved Communications Strategy.  

 Continue to identify and mitigation issues within the Town Centre to improve perception of the Town Centre.  

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 The European & External Funding Team understand how to better improve the new DMP based on the findings after 
having the document evaluated by a range of stakeholders and internal staff. 

 The management and infrastructure of the Destination Management Partnership and Sub Groups will be changed as part 
of the launch of the new DMP following-on from them being in existence for two years with lessons learnt over that 
period. 

 There has been a huge improvement in terms of the European & External Funding Team marketing / publishing / 
communicating excellent news stories based on the work that the team has done. However, improvement needs to be 
made by the team in terms of proactively sending stories to Corporate Comms rather than being prompted by the 
European & External Funding Team. 

 The European & External Funding Team can improve its strategic link with other teams within the Community 
Regeneration Department and wider Council Departments. There is still a need for the team to be more proactive in 
sharing information which is aligned to other teams from within the Council whilst also better understanding what’s 
going on internally. 

 Improve how we, as a collective team and from within our own respective ‘fields’, manage the expectations of the 
community, local residents, businesses (including social enterprises) and external stakeholders. 

 Improved evaluation and assessment of the higher-profile work / projects of the European & External Funding Team to 
ensure the work / projects are suitable, has a positive impact, understand where improvements can be made and to 
ensure the end product is sustainable / viable. 

 

Page 25



 

Version 3 

 

 There is a need to evaluate the working processes and impact of the RDP Programme and projects funded, and more 
specifically, the LAG and its management of the project spend. Certain areas / themes did not receive funding based on a 
number of factors so improvements need to be made if future RDP funding becomes available. 

 The European & External Funding Team need to improve how we share information surrounding how the work we 
undertake positively impacts on the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and the 5 ways of working 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Better working relationships with internal service providers ensuring professional staffs time is better utilised for the 
people of Merthyr Tydfil.  

 Enhance Community Engagement through better utilisation of Social Media and adoption of the ‘People on Patrol’ 
messaging system. 

 Improve internal partner engagement to tackle community issues as Merthyr Tydfil CBC as opposed to services in silos. 

 Retraining of CCTV staff to meet internal service needs. 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Continue to collaborate with other areas to work more preventatively and develop housing options based on anticipated 
and current needs 

 Explore regional and joint commissioning where appropriate to do so to further maximise grant impact and outcomes  

 Continually review processes and services to ensure targeted at greatest need and delivered efficiently  

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 Levels of Adult Physical Activity participation. 

 Levels of 11 – 18 years Physical Activity participation. 

 Levels of under11 Physical Activity participation. 

 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements- this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

EMPLOYABILITY 

 Evaluate participants experiences and feedback to the team to improve service and provide positive feedback 

 Further identify areas within Children and Communities Grant to develop innovate ways of joining up services. 

 To establish partner focussed outputs to demonstrate impact of work within the Economic Growth Partnership 

 To focus on future funding sources over the coming years 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Enterprise Development Service Level Agreement – Enterprise Board, Governance 

 Housing Loans - Marketing 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 Review of authorisations and competencies to meet the requirements of the new Code of Practice and EU Exit and the 
action plan produced in response to the FSA full audit. 

 Work with Business Services to improve the speed and quality of the information inputted on to the Tascomi database. 
Eliminate SPODS.  

 Review of fees and charges to reflect changes in service delivery e.g. stray dogs 

 Implementation of RAFB. 

 Succession Planning 

 Evaluate the service against the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health Practice Standards. This will enable us to 
demonstrate whether we are meeting out statutory functions (as required by the WAO report) and where there are 
shortfalls that need to be addressed. This will also help inform our priorities for improvement. Report findings to Audit 
Committee September 2019. 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 Improve how we as a team communicate information with staff across the organisations, and with key stakeholders; 

 Provide targeted support to the Town Centre through the Town Centre Support Officer to help identify and resolve 
issues to prevent further issues and a change in perception.  

 Deliver funded projects in line with the approved award letter to support the regeneration of the Town Centre.  

 Ensure effective communications to provide updates on successes and key achievements.  Also, to communicate any 
opportunities for engagement and any potential issues.  

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



 

Version 3 

 

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 The proposed new DMP will need to be written so that it captures the current needs / priorities for the region and consist 
of condensed, but more realistic, ‘actions’ based on consultation with the sector and key stakeholders. 

 The infrastructure of the current Destination Management Partnership and subsequent Sub Groups will be reviewed as 
part of this new DMP process. Over the past two years it has become noticeable that certain Sub Groups and the overall 
Partnership are not as proactive or well attended as they should have been plus there is a need to implement an 
additional group or groups going forward to cover the full region and its stakeholders. 

 Improve how the European & External Funding Team communicate information internally and externally linked to the 
support that we collectively offer and positive news stories. 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Sustainability. Considerable efficiency savings have already been made across PASS with up to 50% reduction in NET 
budgets. With ongoing Austerity we as a Service need clarity on position moving forward to effectively manage an 
increasing work demand.. 

 CCTV is a new addition to the PASS portfolio, investment is required to upgrade existing camera infrastructure. 

 Internal communication forum with partners needs to be developed with key co-products identified. 

 Improved HR support. 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Accommodation options for single people to better meet need 

 More/reconfigured supported accommodation to support those with multiple and complex needs requiring support 

 Earlier signposting to Housing from external departments and better use of our Early Intervention and Prevention Officer 

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 Levels of Adult Physical Activity participation. 

 Levels of 11 – 18 years Physical Activity participation. 

 Levels of under11 Physical Activity participation. 

 

  

Page 27



 

Version 3 

 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 
     
     

Question 1.2:  Is there evidence of continuous improvement or excellence in customer results? 
 
 
 

 
<Insert judgment> 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 Trends over time; 

 Different community groups; 

 Outcomes for individuals and families; 

 Contextual information 

 

 
 
 
EMPLOYABILITY 

 The Employability Services has a diverse offer in terms of the groups it supports.  The programme is able to support 
young people (16-24), 25+, Long Term Unemployed, Economically inactive, those who are under employed, those who 
wish to up skill whilst in employment, those who are employed but currently off work sick and those who are at risk of 
redundancy. 

 Provision is delivered by a peripatetic team with various bases covering the whole of the borough.  This allows us to 
deliver in communities, maximising opportunities of engagement. 

 Operations focus on the delivery of learning, training, mentoring & support and supporting individuals into work.  This is 
done through a series of different programmes.  Funders dictate the eligibility and there could be restrictions in terms of 
levels/types of support.  Nearly all employability focussed services are now aligned which allows the team to maximise 
resources available to local people. 

 Robust data capturing allows us to capture data relating to our customers, complex barriers, outcomes and some poverty 
measures i.e. workless households etc.  

 Needs assessments are conducted for most operations which allow staff to develop action plans for participants which 
are reviewed. 

 We are required to respond to actions submitted (draft) from a recent WAO examination.   

 In terms of outputs over the last couple of year there has been a steady increased in all of the achievements of 
Employability Services.  The service area has seen an increase in engagement, people gaining qualifications and also 
people gaining employment. 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Meanwhile Scheme 

 Business Start-up 

 Orbit Business Centre 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 The levels of broadly compliant food business have improved significantly since the introduction of the mandatory food 
hygiene rating scheme. The levels have now bottomed out at 93% but the numbers of businesses rated 5 continues to 
increase.  

 Customer feedback on the food service is positive. 

 The public consultation exercise in the Twynyrodyn AQAP was particularly well-received by Members and the public. 

 The number of long term empty properties brought back into use continues to increase year on year. 

 Response times to service complaints for environmental protection issues have been mixed over the last 12 months due 
to a lack of capacity.  

 The service is hampered by mixed levels of support from Central Services (e.g.) there is a lack of accountability of Central 
Services generally so that they better support the needs of front line services to deliver positive outcomes for the 
customer and avoid litigation, loss of reputation. Priorities of Central Services and the Environmental Health Service often 
differ and this is becoming more apparent as the organisation shrinks. Lack of flexibility imposed by accountants to allow 
management to make decisions during the year on how to spend the departmental budget including income generated. 
There is no incentive to generate income or bid for external finding when this is stripped out and transferred to corporate 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Page 28



 

Version 3 

 

reserves or to bail out others that overspend. Multiple work streams which do not appear to be integrated. 

 Review of internal policies and procedures, health and safety risk assessments etc. is not up to date due to lack of 
capacity 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 A dedicated Town Centre Support Officer position has been created providing a much needed resource within the Town 
Centre.  

 Secured £9.8m for the Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station through the Welsh Government’s Local Transport Fund.  

 Secured a Stage 1 National Lottery Heritage Fund application pass for the re-development of the YMCA.   

 A Taff Bargoed Development Strategy and Action Plan have been developed and will now progress to delivery stage.  

 A series of press releases have been issued regarding key projects to outline key success achieved over the past 12 months.  

 A series of community engagement events were held to promote the Arbed am Byth Scheme and to ensure participation for 
Merthyr residents (where eligible).  MTCBC supported the Arbed am Byth Team on the engagement events to provide a first 
point of contact within the local authority.  

 A Ministerial Launch was held for St. Johns Church in Dowlais which through Vibrant and Viable Places Programme Funding 
resulted in a long-term Grade II Listed derelict building becoming 20 flats.  

 Events within the Town Centre continue to be successful with numbers attending increasing year on year and positive 
feedback being received on social media.  

 As part of the Townscape Heritage Scheme a number of children’s workshops have been held including a craft workshop 
and tours of Pontmorlais for education purposes to learn more about the history of the area.  

 MTCBC in conjunction with the BID held the Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre Awards where a number of businesses were given 
awards in three categories - Retail, Hospitality and Health & Beauty – with businesses receiving a platinum, gold, silver or 
bronze award.  The latest research by mystery shopping specialist company Storecheckers ranks Merthyr Tydfil alongside 
the highest performing town centres across the country, with a combined score of more than 80% from assessors who 
visited 152 premises. 

 The team has continued to engage effectively with stakeholders to improve relationships and communications.  

 A Town Centre masterplan has been developed identifying key sites for development over the next 10 - 15 years.  

 The Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan has been developed and tendered and the project will go live in September 2019.  A 
site visit was held for all interested tenderers to ensure increased interest in the opportunity.  

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 Collectively as a team within the Community Regeneration Department we try to approach all tasks by using the ‘five 
ways of working’ principle as well as elements of reflective assessment of individual practices. In addition, feedback from 
our clients and stakeholders is also considered with improvements made concerning the practice of the team going 
forward – driven by the Programme Manager. 

 Over the past 12 months the European & External Funding Team has saw an increase in customer engagements with 
social enterprises that result in them accessing large-scale finance, growth or diversification. 

 There has been a specific increase in those social enterprises considering and gaining Community Asset Transfer (CAT’s) 
over this 12 month period.  

 The current DMP consisted of a number of key actions set-out in the ‘Programme of Priorities’ section of the document. 
Annual updates on these ‘priorities’ have been given to our ‘customers’ via email and our annual Destination Day. 

 We have gone through a process of evaluating the current DMP and have collated a report which captured ‘customers’ 
collective views on the document (including its impact, what worked well and areas of improvement).  

 From a tourism development perspective, the industry continues to grow in Merthyr Tydfil since we restarted collecting 
our STEAM Reports in 2014.  

 The above information also coincides with an increase in user figures within our local large-scale attractions (Cyfarthfa 
Castle and Park, BikePark Wales, Rock UK Summit Centre, Parkwood Outdoors and Brecon Mountain Railway.  

 The European & External Funding Team led on a Diagnostic Review exercise across the Cwm Taf region (Merthyr Tydfil 
and RCT) where both accommodation and attraction businesses were asked to complete a set questionnaire which 
resulted in a report / graphs being development by the department. The report and finding were presented to the Cwm 
Taf PSB as well as internally within both Councils and consequently received really well.  

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Our intelligence led work has seen individuals and businesses prosecuted and brought to justice. We have a 100% 
conviction rate. 

 All licensing complaints assessed and progressed where necessary. 

 All Licensing Service users applications completed within the statutory timeframe. 

 In 2018 the Trading Standards Service was Highly Commended by the British Hallmarking Council in their work into 
tackling counterfeit and unsafe jewellery.  

 We continue to process Licenses within the required statutory timeframes with 100% compliance rate. 

Page 29



 

Version 3 

 

 We continue to contribute to national action plans such as Welsh Governments Smoking Action Plan and the Cwm Taf 
Substance Misuse Action Plan. 

 Using customer data we have shaped service delivery to customer complaint trends. 

 Support local business with advice and support via Pubwatch and ESAG processes. 

 Reviewed CCTV service with positive acknowledgment from partner agencies such as South Wales Police. 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Service user consultation for Supporting People service users is very positive and the true impact on individual lives can 
be seen through the case studies, feedback and strategic review questionnaires and conversations 

 Customers supported through our statutory homeless services provide adhoc informal feedback and generally the 
service users are positive about the support received, the usual stumbling block may be the lack of accommodation for 
those in need (particularly for single people) 

 Outcomes are positive in terms in housing those in need for both individuals and families 

 Despite continuing increases in demand for services through both SP (up 38% from 17/18-18/19) and Housing (up 27% 
from 17/18/18/19) the services still deliver effective support and interventions to promote independence, reduce 
homelessness and prevent crisis despite limited resources. 

 SP/Housing: Positive outcomes being achieved however external factors i.e. welfare benefit reform means an increase in 
presentations at services year on year 

 Resilient teams dealing with more and more complex cases in trauma informed way 

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 
Trend data: 
Hooked on sport: 

 Overall “Hooked on Sport” 2013 to 2015 improving, 2015 to 2018 slightly declining  

 Primary school “Hooked on Sport” 2013 to 2015 improving, 2015 to 2018 improving. 

 Secondary Schools “Hooked on Sport” 2013 to 2015 improving, 2015 to 2018 slightly declining. 
Leisure Trust 
Usage  

 Usage for Physical Activity of Council Commissioned out services improving. 

 Usage of Merthyr Tydfil Library Public Service improving 

 Usage 0f the Cyfarthfa Park Museum and Gallery has improving  
Satisfaction Rate s 

 User satisfaction for the Library Service improving. 

 User satisfaction for the Sports and Leisure Facilities improving. 

 User satisfaction for the Cultural Facilities in 2017/18 improving. 

 

 
 
 
EMPLOYABILITY 

 Delivering on joint targets with DWP in Communities for Work.  This is to develop team working with regards outputs. 

 A range of needs assessments are in place for most programme which allow us to develop knowledge of individuals 
needs so more effective planning can take place when completing personal action plans 

 Teams placed in the community to deliver a range of support to individuals in their community. 

 Records of conversations are held on file which depicts dialogues and actions as agreed between participants and 
mentors.  This ensures regular contact, structured discussions, progress towards and records all final outputs when the 
participants moves on. 

 The North Cluster team in Communities for Work and Communities for Work plus are placed in the newly acquired 
Community Zone in the Gurnos.  The team are a ‘one stop shop’ for all matters relating to employment. 

 A single point of contact referral process has been established to make referring into provision a lot easier for partners.  
We are starting to see a broader range of partner referring into the employability programme via the Neighbourhood 
Learning Centre. 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 100% occupancy rate 

 Advanced bookings 

 Feedback forms 

 Online reviews 

  

Good Practice: 

Page 30



 

Version 3 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 Seizing opportunities to bid for small pots of money which can make a significant difference to service delivery mid- 
year allowing specific project work or sampling to be undertaken e.g. allergen management. 

 Maximising training opportunities for officers so that there is strength and depth. 

 Sharing lead officer roles to prevent SPODS.   
 Conduct survey of empty property owners to identify barriers to bringing properties back into use 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 Town Centre Awards.  Of this year’s awards Big Heart of Merthyr Tydfil Chair Carl Mason said he was delighted both 
with the increasing number of traders gaining awards and with those achieving the highest standards.  “The ceremony 
highlights the excellent overall experience and service that customers receive and shows how well Merthyr is adapting 
to the challenges of today’s business environment where excellent service is a key ingredient to success on the high 
street.” 

 An Events Strategy has been developed and implemented for the Town Centre.  

 Action Plan for delivery in place for the Town Centre and Taff Bargoed  

 Creation of a new, fit for purpose Bus Station which will include supplementary office and retail space.  The facility will 
benefit from cycle parking, appropriate safety and personal security features; such as lighting, CCTV, bus stop and 
waiting facilities and the proposed facility will incorporate pedestrian and cycle access to encourage active travel to and 
from the site. 

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 With regards to the SuNSE Project (focussed on social enterprise development) it has strategically aligned itself to the 
Merthyr Tydfil Enterprise Centre (MTEC) managed by Tydfil Training. through this ‘strategic alignment’ MTEC now offers 
social enterprises a face to face support scheme so that they can develop their business ideas, diversify and / or expand 
their business via advice and business planning support. This has resulted in many social enterprises gaining conclusive 
Business Plans which have been used to access significant amounts of grant finance over the last 12 months. 

 The European & External Funding Team led on a Diagnostic Review exercise across the Cwm Taf region (Merthyr Tydfil 
and RCT) where both accommodation and attraction businesses were asked to complete a set questionnaire based on 
our ‘customers’ needs which resulted in a report / graphs being developed by the department. The report and finding 
were presented to the Cwm Taf PSB as well as internally within both Councils and consequently received really well.  

 The current Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan (DMP) is seen as an exemplar strategy in Wales with other 
Council’s looking to replicate its structure and consultation processes. The European & External Funding Team 
Programme Manager is currently going through the process of writing a new DMP which will be ready by the end of 2019. 

 As part of the new DMP, a framework for developing new Sub Groups to lead on the ‘plans’ Programme of Priorities were 
developed. One of those ‘Sub Groups’ – Destination Marketing & Events Group has worked extremely well over the past 
12 months and has developed some excellent projects and joint initiatives. These will be captured in the above new DMP.  

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Services across PASS are now working together providing a holistic approach to community issues. A prime example of 
this approach was a retail premise selling illegal tobacco and psychoactive substances. The Drug app identified a growing 
trend of use of this substance. Surveillance was carried out using CCTV which provided detailed intelligence which we 
were then able to carry out a raid using Trading Standards powers whilst utilising ASB powers to close the premise.  In 
meetings with other Trading Standards it was evident we were quite unique in this approach and we were approached by 
other Trading Standards for further guidance.  

 The COMPASS Scam victim projects enable to support the most vulnerable in our communities. Through national 
intelligence sharing we receive information on individuals in our communities who may be victims of fraud. We are then 
able to provide support and intervention. Data shows that some vulnerable consumers do not report frauds for fear of 
ridicule or in the case of elderly losing their independence. Through COMPASS we are able to pro-actively support. 

 Business support. We provide a first class support service to licensed premises. Our view is getting right at the start 
prevents issues further down the line. New businesses can approach the service for guidance and will be supported in 
making applications for licences. Our Licensing team work closely with Police partners so a consistent message is given. 
This success can be measured by the small amount of complaints we receive against licensed premises. 

 No corporate complaints upheld against any PASS area. 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Strategic evaluations have shown that service users, staff and providers of commissioned services and housing related 
support value he services, acknowledge the positive impact of support and value the positive contribution in helping 
them maintain and/or sustain independence. 

 More trauma informed approaches to supporting those presenting at our statutory services in housing need 
 

Page 31



 

Version 3 

 

 
 
 
EMPLOYABILITY 

 Trend data linked to information recorded on SOAPS 

 Various needs assessments 

 Specific customer data which is available electronically via our databases 

 Personal Action Plan demonstrating measures to move individuals closer to the labour market 

 Records of conversations 

 Positive feedback on social media 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Meanwhile 

 Number of Business Loans offered 

 Number of Housing Loans offered 

 Number of capital grants offered 

 Number of Business Starts 

 Enterprise Development Service Level Agreement 

 Orbit Centre feedback forms and online reviews 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 WAO audit December 2018 

 Food Standards Agency Full Audit February 2019 

 PAMS (023. 013. 014) 

 LAEMS 

 LAE1 

 Consultation feedback 

 Council 

 Scrutiny 

 Report to Audit Committee 24
th

 June 2019 

 Food Service Plan 

 Customer Complaints 

 Working Life Soap 

 Environmental Wellbeing Soap 

 Continual Professional Development records. 

 Empty Property Survey Results. 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 Crucible Report  

 Cyfarthfa Masterplan Brief  

 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Scrutiny Report (Exempt) 

 Valleys Regional Park application  

 www.arbedambyth.wales 

 YMCA Stage 1 NLHF application  

 Building for the Future YMCA application  

 YMCA Cabinet Reports (Exempt)  

 Taff Bargoed Regeneration Strategy and Action Plan  

 TH Stage 2 NLHF application  

 BID Action Plan  

 Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre Action Plan   

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 SuNSE Project Application, Offer Letter and Partnership Agreement 

 Trail Gazers Project Application, Offer Letter and Partnership Agreement 

 Grant Offer Letters for various social enterprises that have received funding from £40,000 to £300,000 

 Community Regeneration SOAP 2018-19 & Sub-SOAP 2018-19 

 Current Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan  

 Framework and PowerPoint for the new Merthyr Tydfil Destination Management Plan 

 Diagnostic Review Report for Cwm Taf (including graphs and actual PowerPoint)  

Evidence: 

Page 32



 

Version 3 

 

 New Visit Merthyr Guide 

 Visit Merthyr Website (www.visitmerthyr.co.uk)  

 Visit Merthyr Interactive Map 

 2018 STEAM Data 

 Agendas, Minutes and Action Plans of numerous meetings over the past 12 months 

 Feedback emails from senior officers, Councillors, external stakeholders and clients 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Legal process files. (Restricted) 

 Scrutiny Reports (see above) 

 Lalpac complaint data 

 Corporate complaints data 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 SP Strategic evaluations 

 WHO 12 Housing data 

 Service user consultation at a local and Cwm Taf Level 

 Case Studies 

 SOAPs 

 Customer data/letters  

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2013/14 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2014/15 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2015/16 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2016/17 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2017/18 

 Sport Wales 2018/19 progress report and Senior Officer feedback 2018/19 

 Internal performance review process quarterly presentations. 

 Welsh Public Libraries Report 2017/18 

 Welsh Public Libraries Report 2018/19 

 Leisure Trust quarterly Performance Reports 2015/16 

 Leisure Trust quarterly Performance Reports 2016/17 

 Leisure Trust quarterly Performance Reports 2017/18 

 Leisure Trust quarterly Performance Reports 2018/19 

 Minutes from the Leisure Trust Performance meetings 

 An internal Audit Report of the Leisure and Cultural service monitoring arrangements 
     

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

EMPLOYABILITY 

 More focus on customer evaluation can be developed to use as feedback to the team and inform future provision 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Enterprise Development SLA 

 Housing Loans 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 Succession planning.  

 Reduction in SPODS. 

 Ways to improve accountability of Central Services so that they better support and meet the needs of the department.  
Ability to be innovative within the confines of the budget without being penalised and reduction in red tape. 

 Assessment of the services provided against the CIEH Practice Standards which will help determine areas needing 
development and priorities for improvement. Follow up Report to Audit Committee in September. 

 

  

Areas for Development: 

Page 33

http://www.visitmerthyr.co.uk/


 

Version 3 

 

 Joint working on empty homes Project to increase the number of long term empties brought back into use, potentially 
improving the number of rental properties in demand and increase the work based skills base in the area to renovate 
these properties. Input empty property surveys into database. 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 Improved communication within the Town Centre 

 Consultation on the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan through an approved Communications Strategy.  

 Consultation on the Town Centre Masterplan through an approved Communications Strategy.  

 Consultation on the Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station through an approved Communications Strategy.  

 Continue to identify and mitigation issues within the Town Centre to improve perception of the Town Centre.  

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 The European & External Funding Team understand how to better improve the new DMP based on the findings after 
having the document evaluated by a range of stakeholders and internal staff. 

 The management and infrastructure of the Destination Management Partnership and Sub Groups will be changed as part 
of the launch of the new DMP following-on from them being in existence for two years with lessons learnt over that 
period. 

 There has been a huge improvement in terms of the European & External Funding Team marketing / publishing / 
communicating excellent news stories based on the work that the team has done. However, improvement needs to be 
made by the team in terms of proactively sending stories to Corporate Comms rather than being prompted by the 
European & External Funding Team. 

 The European & External Funding Team can improve its strategic link with other teams within the Community 
Regeneration Department and wider Council Departments. There is still a need for the team to be more proactive in 
sharing information which is aligned to other teams from within the Council whilst also better understanding what’s 
going on internally. 

 Improve how we, as a collective team and from within our own respective ‘fields’, manage the expectations of the 
community, local residents, businesses (including social enterprises) and external stakeholders. 

 Improved evaluation and assessment of the higher-profile work / projects of the European & External Funding Team to 
ensure the work / projects are suitable, has a positive impact, understand where improvements can be made and to 
ensure the end product is sustainable / viable. 

 There is a need to evaluate the working processes and impact of the RDP Programme and projects funded, and more 
specifically, the LAG and its management of the project spend. Certain areas / themes did not receive funding based on a 
number of factors so improvements need to be made if future RDP funding becomes available. 

 The European & External Funding Team need to improve how we share information surrounding how the work we 
undertake positively impacts on the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and the 5 ways of working. 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Improving the capture of customer satisfaction levels. 

 Communications strategy with Corporate Communications team. 

 Customer Engagement events. 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Ongoing training in supporting customers with multiple and complex needs 

 Better engagement with Health 

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 Showing the impact and value and impact of the services work. 

 Clarity on the Councils priorities.  

 Use of data to support improvement. 

 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

EMPLOYABILITY 

 More focus on customer evaluation can be developed to use as feedback to the team and inform future provision 

 

  

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

Version 3 

 

BUSINESS SUPPORT AND INWARD INVESTMENT 

 Enterprise Development SLA 

 Housing Loans 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 

 As listed in Areas for Development; but these may be refocussed depending on the findings of the assessment against 
the CIEH Practice Standards 

STRATEGIC REGENERATION 

 Improve how we as a team communicate information with staff across the organisations, and with key stakeholders; 

 Provide targeted support to the Town Centre through the Town Centre Support Officer to help identify and resolve 
issues to prevent further issues and a change in perception.  

 Ensure effective communications to provide updates on successes and key achievements.  Also, to communicate any 
opportunities for engagement and any potential issues.  

EUROPEAN AND EXTERNAL FUNDING TEAM 

 The proposed new DMP will need to be written so that it captures the current needs / priorities for the region and 
consist of condensed, but more realistic, ‘actions’ based on consultation with the sector and key stakeholders. 

 The infrastructure of the current Destination Management Partnership and subsequent Sub Groups will be reviewed as 
part of this new DMP process. Over the past two years it has become noticeable that certain Sub Groups and the 
overall Partnership are not as proactive or well attended as they should have been plus there is a need to implement an 
additional group or groups going forward to cover the full region and its stakeholders. 

 Improve how the European & External Funding Team communicate information internally and externally linked to the 
support that we collectively offer and positive news stories. 

PROTECTION AND SAFETY SERVICES 

 Capture Community Feedback  

 Communications strategy 

SUPPORTING PEOPLE & HOUSING  

 Better connectivity between all areas, i.e. SS/Health/Housing to ensure all needs are met and options are sustainable for 
those with multiple needs and need for a number of interventions in order to fully meet those individuals needs 

HERITAGE, CULTURE & SPORTS DEVELOPMENT 

 To develop a multi-dimensional suite of measures that shows the impact and value of the services work. 

 To give clarity on the Councils priorities, via arrange of strategic documents. 

 To further develop the services data gathering systems, analysing and evaluation to drive performance 

 

  

Page 35



 

Version 3 

 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 
     
     

Question 1.3:  How has the service improved the wellbeing and attitudes towards learning of children and young  
                          people? (ESTYN focussed – only Education to answer) 
 
 
 

 
<  Choose a judgment  > 

EVALUATION: When answering this question, consider the ESTYN guidance 1.3 – wellbeing and attitudes 
to learning 

 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Good Practice: 

Evidence: 

Page 36



 

Version 3 

 

QUESTION 1:  OUTCOMES 

 
     
     

Question 1.3:  How has the service improved the wellbeing and attitudes towards learning of children and young  
                          people? (ESTYN focussed – only Education to answer) 
 

 
 
 

In light of the evidence given above, identify areas that the service would like to develop in order to do better. 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

These are the priority areas that need immediate improvement in order to have an impact on outcomes.  Consider 
the judgements - this should be about moving from unsatisfactory to adequate, or from adequate to good.  

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Areas for Development: 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Diweddariad ar Reoli Cyrchfan / Update on 
Destination Management 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Scrutiny Committee regarding progress made by 

the Council and our key stakeholders linked to ongoing destination development 
activities. Furthermore, information alluding to the impact of these activities on the local 
economy and the opportunities that these activities have made on the on jobs, career 
and training opportunities is also covered. 

 
1.2 In addition, the report provides information regarding the progress made in delivering 

Merthyr Tydfil’s current Destination Management Plan (DMP) 2016-18 as well as the 
proposals for our new DMP covering a three year period. 

 
1.3 This report comprises details of the impact of the current DMP, depicting the work 

undertaken in terms of stakeholder engagement, updates regarding the current DMP’s 
‘Programme of Priorities’, product development, marketing mechanisms, perception 
changing activities, event management, regional development and visitor trends. 

 
1.4  The report also comprises of an update of the Council’s new DMP whilst also bringing 

Members up-to-date regarding key destination management related projects such as 
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area, Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station, BikePark Wales, Rock UK Summit 
Centre as well as other associated developments.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee discusses and comments on the information set out in 
 the report.  
 

Date Written Thursday 8th August 2019 

Report Author Ryan Barry & Lyndsey Handley 

Service Area Community Regeneration  

Committee Date Tuesday 10th September 2019 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



2.2 That the Scrutiny Committee identifies any further information they would like to 
 receive as part of Scrutiny's Forward Plan. 
 
2.3 That the Scrutiny Committee notes the contents of this report. 
 

 
 
3.0     INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The Community Regeneration Department has been requested by the Scrutiny 
Committee to give an update on the progress made surrounding developing Merthyr 
Tydfil’s tourism infrastructure whilst also reporting on the impact that current 
Destination Management Plan has made in the region over the last year. 

 
3.2  The tourism economy is vitally important to Merthyr Tydfil with the sector being a large 

employer of local people employing over 1,204 full time equivalent (FTE) jobs across 
the County Borough. In addition, the tourism sector brings in over £100.75m into the 
local economy with 1.79m visitors coming to Merthyr Tydfil in 2018. 

 
3.3 Incidentally, over the last ten years the industry has continued to grow steadily due 

specifically to the regions cultural heritage, increasing activity tourism offer and great 
location in terms of being an ideal ‘exploration hub’. Table 1 below outlines the annual 
growth of the sector since 2013 which has been formally captured by Global Tourism 
Solutions utilising their Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity Monitor (STEAM) data 
capturing mechanism which is used by many Local Authorities throughout the UK.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table 1 – Growth of the tourism industry in Merthyr Tydfil with statistics obtained from Global Tourism Solutions (UK) Ltd 

 
 
 
 

Page 40



3.4 In 2012, there was a directive from Welsh Government (Visit Wales) for each of the 22 
Local Authorities in Wales to develop their own Destination Management Plans so that 
they could apply for grant finance to develop their own respective areas. In 2013, the 
Council developed our first DMP which was then followed by the development of a 
second plan in 2016. Incidentally, the Community Regeneration Department are 
currently in the process of developing the Council’s third DMP. 

 
3.5 The Destination Management Plan is a strategic document which is collaboratively 

produced in partnership with a range of stakeholders aiming to manage the visitors’ 
experience over a set period (usually three years). The DMP is a practical working 
document that articulates the roles and responsibilities of a range of stakeholders as 
well as Council departments set against clear objectives whilst also outlining the future 
priorities for the region. 

 
3.6 The development of the Council’s second DMP brought with it a greater focus 

surrounding the socio-economic importance of the tourism sector locally. In November 
2016, the second DMP also saw the Community Regeneration Department secure 
funding to employ a dedicated Destination Management Coordinator to oversee the 
implementation of the ‘DMP’ by engaging with stakeholders, assisting with the 
development of new projects, supporting new and existing thematic groups and to 
represent Merthyr Tydfil at regional events and meetings. 

 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Upon appointing a new Destination Management Coordinator work started on the 
 implementation of the DMP whilst ensuring that key stakeholders understood and 
 embraced the documents ‘Programme of Priorities’. As part of the Coordinators role a 
 number of thematic groups were developed in order to drive the sector forward over 
 the course of the lifespan of the ‘plan’. 
 
4.2 Prior to the Community Regeneration Department receiving an additional resource to 
 drive the new DMP forward the County Borough and respective tourism businesses 
 and key stakeholders lacked definitive support to coordinate meetings and events 
 across the region.  
 
4.3 The Council owned Visit Merthyr Website had become outdated (nine years old as of 
 2018) with the Council sparsely using their tourism social media platforms (namely 
 Facebook and Twitter). Therefore, the County Borough was not maximising its 
 marketing potential to prospective visitors and local people.  
 
4.4 After securing finance from Visit Wales in September 2016, the Council launched a 
 new activity tourism video which was developed in partnership with local activity 
 tourism providers. The video is deemed to have been a great success; profiting from 
 nearly 50,000 views across all social media platforms and is an excellent platform for 
 future thematically aligned video productions going forward.  
 
4.5 In 2015, Council decided to close its longstanding Tourist Information Centre (TIC) 

which was located opposite Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station due to efficiency cuts. In April 
2018, the Council’s new TIC opened at Trago with the company gifting a dedicated 
facility (free rent) to the authority. Unfortunately, due to further financial constraints a 

Page 41



corporate decision was made to close the TIC at Trago and re-site the service at the 
Civic Centre.    

 
4.6 Previously, large-scale events across the County Borough were mostly developed in 

isolation with the marketing of these occasions being uncoordinated, costly and very 
much timely. Furthermore, until recently; event organisers were still having issues with 
meeting the safety standards and compliance thresholds set-out by the Council’s 
Event Safety Advisory Group (ESAG) – which again has added to the identified 
problems above. 

 
4.7 Prior to the Council publishing our second DMP and subsequently employing a 
 dedicated Destination Management Coordinator; there was a distinct lack of strategic 
 coordination between tourism sector businesses. This lack of collaborative working 
 and joint investment amongst the sector would have adversely affected the impact in 
 terms of marketing of the region and total reach to visitors. 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The current Destination Management Plan is at the end of strategic lifespan with the 
 Community Regeneration Department currently going through a consultation period 
 with tourism sector businesses and key stakeholders to both assess the impact of 
 the current DMP and to ascertain what the regions priorities should be in preparation 
 for a new ‘Plan’ which will be available in the Autumn of 2019. 
 
5.2 Part of the Destination Management Coordinator’s role was to engage with tourism 
 sector businesses (accommodation providers and attractions) and associated key 
 stakeholders (Leisure Trust, Business Improvement District, Heritage Trust etc.) in 
 order to get them all working together via dedicated working groups and to eventually 
 share resources. The range of new and existing groups are currently working well; 
 predominantly due to the enhanced support from the Destination Management 
 Coordinator and Community Regeneration Department staff. 
 
5.3 A new Visit Merthyr Website, which was developed by the Council following on from a 

range of consultation exercises with the tourism sector was launched on the 21st April 
2018. The new website was received really well by all parties and is deemed a real 
success due to it now being mobile phone friendly, interactive and generally more 
aesthetically pleasing for its users. 

 
5.4 The growth in the Council’s Visit Merthyr social media pages has increased 

significantly over the last year due to the fact that the department took over the full 
management of the platforms. The graph below depicts the continual increase of the 
platforms with the sharpest rise being in March to April this year after a joint Vlogger–
Blogger event where social media ‘influencers’ visited Merthyr Tydfil over the course of 
a weekend and shared their experiences with their respective followers.  

Page 42



           
 
 
5.5 As stated above in Section 4.5 the Council decided to close the TIC sited at Trago and 

moved the service to the Civic Centre. As anticipated, the service has had less of an 
impact due primarily to the fact that the vast amount of visitors to the Civic Centre are 
actually local people. However, the department are currently considering alternative 
locations for a new TIC as well as smaller ‘satellite’ TIC’s going forward. 

 
5.6 In May 2019, Corporate Management Team agreed to reapportion a small amount of 

the allocation finance for the previous Trago TIC and staff in order to employ a 
Destination Management Assistant (DMA) for one year. The DMA’s role will be to 
support the Coordinator in terms of strategic marketing, website development, visitor 
and tourism sector engagement, event support and data collection. 

 
5.7 In terms of Merthyr Tydfil events, officers from the Community Regeneration 

Department are actively involved in the development and coordination of large-scale 
events across the County Borough. Officers now work more closely with the ESAG 
Team and have assisted with the development and implementation of a new ‘Events 
 Framework’ which sees event promoters now completing an application for each event 
that they wish to run. Each application is formally assessed by ESAG, supported by 
other departments, to ensure all safety, consultation, noise and clean-up processes are 
adhered to; well in advance of each event taking place.   

 
5.8 With an improved coordination of large-scale Merthyr Tydfil events the Community 

Regeneration Department has played an integral role in developing a number of 
funding applications which has resulted in key organisations obtaining substantial 
amounts of grant finance to assist with the running of these events. Table 2 below 
focusses on those specific events held in 2018/19 which depicts the name of each 
event, event organiser, level of funding secured / received and attendance figures. 

 
 
Name of Event: Event Organiser: Funding Secured: Attendance Figures: 

Merthyr Rising  Merthyr Rising CIC £50,000 7,000 each year 

Man Engine MTCBC/ MT Leisure Trust £42,034 5,172 

Merthyr Tydfil Challenge  Merthyr Running Club / Inspire £31,192 378 (competitors) 

 
Table 2 – Breakdown of 2018-19 Merthyr Tydfil Events 

 

Page 43



5.9 The department led on a joint initiative with RCTCBC on behalf of the Cwm Taf Public 
Service Board (PSB) which was focussed on better understanding the make-up of the 
tourism sector across the region, their business needs and possible opportunities for 
joint working. The department coordinated a Diagnostic Review exercise contacting 
129 businesses with 87 businesses responding (67% Cwm Taf response rate). From 
the responses received a report with accompanying graphs was produced and shared 
with RCT and eventually the PSB – who were pleased with the findings and 
opportunities moving forward.       

 
5.10 As touched upon in Section 5.4 the department led on a Vlogger–Blogger activity 

themed weekend which saw six social media influencers visit BikePark Wales, Rock 
UK Summit Centre, Parkwood Outdoors Dolygaer and Cyfarthfa Park & Castle. This 
collaborative initiative saw the ‘influencers’ constantly share their experiences via 
videos, photos and generic social media posts over the course of that weekend with 
their ‘followers’. Collectively, this innovative weekend generated over 250 social media 
posts / stories, blogs and five promotional videos that have received thousands of 
views online. 

 
5.11 The DM Coordinator in partnership with Jackie Huybs from Corporate Communications 

has led on the development of a new Visit Merthyr Guide. This will be the first guide 
developed since December 2015 with the new guide being more thematically aligned 
(in sections) and more visual rather than being content driven.  

 

 
Front Cover, Contents Page and Selected Double Page Spread of the New Visit Merthyr Guide 

 
 

 
5.12 Working in partnership with the Council’s GIS Officer and Corporate Communications 

Team, the DM Coordinator has developed an interactive map of Merthyr Tydfil which 
will be officially launched at Destination Day on the 8th October 2019. The map is 
thematically layered in terms of highlighting such things as accommodation 
businesses, attractions, trails, food & drink, places of interest etc. An image of the 
Attractions section of the map can be found below:    

 

Page 44



            
 

Screenshot of the Attraction Page on the New Merthyr Tydfil Interactive Map 

 

 
5.13 Over the reporting period MTCBC have been actively involved in some regionally 

significant projects that run across South and East Wales. Below are the three projects 
that the Council are currently partnered in:  

 

 The South Wales Marketing Hub  –  (Secured Campaign Funds - £204,000) 

 Discover the Cambrian Way  –  (Secured Campaign Funds - £177,000) 

 The Valleys    –  (£15,000 remaining in this campaign)  
 
 
5.14 The department has been successful in gaining approval for a new transnational 
 project entitled Trail Gazers through the Atlantic Area Programme. The €300,000 Trail 
 Gazers Project has partners from Scotland, Ireland, England, France and Spain and is 
 focussed primarily around the development and marketing of the Taff Trail in 
 Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
5.15 The principles of ‘destination management’ are broad enough that it sees key officers 
 from within the Community Regeneration Department work on strategic projects 
 across the County Borough. Below are general updates on some of those key projects 
 aligned to the current Destination Management Plan and will inevitably link into the 
 Council’s new DMP: 
 
5.15a  Cyfarthfa Park, Castle, Charette and Crucible Report: 
 

The Cyfarthfa Heritage Area development phase has progressed key milestone 
achievements this past year.  

Page 45



Cyfarthfa Castle and Crucible - To progress the strands of the Crucible Report, the 
Council and the Design Commission for Wales (DCFW) had to procure a first class 
multi-disciplinary team to develop a ‘Strategic Framework’ for the ‘Big Idea’ for 
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area.  The framework will drive future design and development 
work for the development of the heritage assets and wider Heritage Area. This 
framework will also lead to multiple sub-projects based on the themes contained in the 
brief and the actual Charette Report.  

 
A tender for the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan was issued in March 2019 and 
this task has resulted in the commissioning of a master planning exercise which 
develops the ideas outlined within the Charette Report. The Masterplan will also be 
informed by further site and context study and community engagement; and developed 
in parallel to a business plan to provide a framework under which all other projects 
must fall.  The framework will provide the structure for the ‘Big Idea’.    

 
The Community Regeneration Team issued a brief for the Masterplan in March 2019 
with the deadline for tenders was the 17th May.  A total of 20 tenders were received.  
This was reduced to 15 following the selection stage evaluation. Seven tenderers 
progressed to interview stage which were held on the 18th and 20th June, and 
subsequently, Ian Ritchie Architects were awarded the contract.  Ian Ritchie Architects 
will commence the contract on the 2nd September and a detailed programme will be 
developed to outline the delivery plan for the next year.  

 
Cyfarthfa Park has been chosen as one of the main Discovery Gateway Sites across 
South East Wales. A large proportion of funding (yet to be confirmed) will be allocated 
which will be spent on key projects within the park (new Canolfan development, 
signage etc.).  

 
5.15b Rock UK Summit Centre: 
 

On Friday 22nd February 2019, Rock UK Summit Centre held its official opening of the 
centre by His Royal Highness The Prince of Wales. The event was an acclamation of 
years of work which saw the department assist Rock UK Summit Centre in securing 
nearly £4.6m funding. In addition, the department also coordinated ‘Meet the 
Contractor’ days linked to the actual refurbishment whilst also leading on associated 
business training schemes and assisting with employment solutions for the additional 
staff needed at the centre.  
 

5.15c BikePark Wales: 
 

The attraction has benefitted from ongoing support from the department specifically 
working on enhancement works at the site. The widening of the road infrastructure 
which runs to the top of the mountain as well as building works and utility connections 
are near completion. The business will also be creating new family trail green routes, 
adding a further building onsite and looking into a future accommodation provision. All 
the improvements will assist in increasing the volume of visitors using the site where at 
present they are operating at capacity.     

 
5.15d Merthyr–Abernant Tunnel Development: 
 

The Council, in partnership with RCTCBC, were successful in obtaining £125,000 from 
the Local Transport Fund (LTF) in order to undertake feasibility and scoping works 

Page 46



relating to the reopening of the Merthyr–Abernant Tunnel. The finance will be utilised 
to look at possible economic models, potential ownership, site safety, community 
consultation and access with a view of developing the historical asset into both a 
transport route between the two County Borough’s and promoting the site as a tourism 
attraction. 

 
5.15e Trago Phase 2: 
 

The Community Regeneration Department are looking to re-engage with senior staff at 
Trago with planning out and developing the premise for their Phase Two development 
which is situated west of the store on the upper tier of their land. Plans are still in the 
scoping out stage with the business hoping to present their intentions later on this 
year. 

 
5.15f Trails Infrastructure Development: 
 

The Council has been successful in obtaining £158,000 from Welsh Government’s 
Active Travel Fund (ATF) which will be aligned to improve current trails on the 
integrated network map infrastructure and has recently completed a review audit on 
trail signage and barriers. 

 
5.15g Accommodation Developments: 
 

Over the last ten years the accommodation sector in Merthyr Tydfil has nearly doubled 
in size, a trend that continues to grow with six new accommodation businesses 
opening up in 2019. Similarly, the department has worked with a number of existing 
accommodation businesses in order to enhance or diversify their facilities; which has 
resulted in additional employment, training and volunteering opportunities being made 
available to local people. 
 
The DM Co-ordinator supports existing and new accommodation businesses by 
offering guidance for financial grants, loans, industry news and marketing 
opportunities. Where appropriate the DM-Coordinator has referred them to relevant 
support mechanisms for assistance with their business plans and pre-planning advice. 
In Particular, the DM Co-ordinator is in liaison with Visit Wales Grants Officer to 
explore support via the Micro Small Business Fund. Businesses currently receiving 
support include Station Hotel, Pant Cad Ifor, The Bessemer Hotel, a creation of a new 
high spec bunkhouse in Edwardsville, the development of The Roost Plantation, and 
more recently, the possible redevelopment of the Salvation Army Building into an Apart 
Hotel in Treharris.  

 
5.15h Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station Development: 
 

On the 17th April 2019, Cabinet approved an award of £3.65m from Welsh 
Government’s Local Transport Fund (with an indicative offer of £6.5m for 20 / 21) for 
the new Town Centre Bus Station development on Swan Street. Morgan Sindall was 
appointed as the lead contractor with works commencing on the 15th July 2019.  The 
initial works include site clearance, site set-up and the erection the hoardings.  
 
Capita has been appointed to provide professional technical support and the overall 
project will be managed via the Strategic Project Board established specifically for the 
Bus Station. There will also be continued support from Blaenau Gwent CBC. A Social 

Page 47



Values Plan and a Communications Plan have also been developed which will be 
delivered during the contract period.  A ‘Meet the Buyer’ event will be held on the 11th 
September 2019. 
 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 It is anticipated that the department will launch its third Destination Management Plan 
 in the autumn of 2019 – once Welsh Government confirm the priority areas they wish 
 to focus on in their new ‘Action Plan’. It is envisaged that the new plan will again cover 
 a three year period with certain priorities being the same with new areas of focus being 
 brought in. 
 
6.2 As stated previously the Destination Management Partnership and Sub Groups are 
 working well, however, the process still isn’t as seamless and dynamic as first thought. 
 Considerations are being made to possibly develop a new Accommodation Provider 
 Sub Group (or to amalgamate them into an existing group). Furthermore, where 
 previously simply anyone can attend a Sub Group Meeting – this will probably change 
 as certain members don’t bring any relevant strength to meetings or are ‘problematic’ 
 when in attendance (which has previously affected the dynamism of meetings). These 
 ‘tweaks’ should make the Sub Groups more productive in the long-term. 
 
6.3 During the planned Destination Day the department will launch the Council’s new Visit 
 Merthyr Guide and interactive map (which will be linked to the Visit Merthyr Website). 
 Furthermore, the framework of the new Destination Management Plan will also be 
 presented along with the Council’s plans for new video content and a proposal for a 
 new Visit Merthyr App.  
 
6.4 The new Visit Merthyr Website will continue to evolve and see its users figures grow. 

Additional work and statistics will be pulled from the website periodically in order to 
benchmark the demographics of its users in terms of where they live, how they access 
the site and what pages they visit. In terms of social media platforms we anticipate that 
these will continue to grow across all the platforms (Facebook, Twitter and Instagram).  

 
6.5  Large-scale events will continue to grow with less problems encountered by all parties 
 involved in their organisation and coordination. As part of that process visitor figures 
 and impact will be greater, which will have a positive effect on Merthyr Tydfil 
 perception locally, regionally and nationally. 
 
6.6 The department will have a structured set of actions and outcomes aligned to the Cwm 
 Taf PSB. Year two work could focus on a phase two of Diagnostic Reviews across 
 Cwm Taf as well as more tangible outcomes aligned to people and academic 
 organisations. 
 
6.7 Based on the success of the pilot Vlogger–Blogger trip in March 2019 the Council, 

along with its key partners, will look to treble the amount of social media influencers 
attending at a planned weekend in April 2020. The concept will stay the same with 
‘influencers’ visiting BikePark, Rock UK, Parkwood and Cyfarthfa Heritage Area as well 
as eating out each evening in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre.   

 
 

Page 48



6.8 With the additional support of the Destination Management Assistant, Visit Merthyr 
marketing platform will see increased activity, tourism themed competitions and regular 
campaign messages posted to continually increase reach, followers, likes and visitor 
engagement. 

 
6.9 In conjunction with MTCBC’s official work experience programmes, the department 

has partnered with the University of South Wales-Merthyr Tydfil Campus to host a ten 
week work experience placement for a Year 2 Travel & Tourism student. Commencing 
in January 2020, the programme will include practical experience with the Community 
Regeneration Department as well as providing hands-on experience at our various 
attractions.  

 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 The Community Regeneration Department will hold a number of small-scale 

consultation events at various sites across the County Borough in order to gauge 
people’s views regarding the priorities for our next Destination Management Plan. 
These will be amalgamated with the views already collated by the sector with a draft 
DMP being produced thereafter. Once finalised, the new DMP will them need to be 
ratified by Council prior to going out into the public domain.   

 
7.2 As part of the development of the new DMP an up to date structure for our Destination 
 Management Partnership and subsequent Sub Groups will be developed and 
 implemented in early 2020. First and foremost, the restructuring and discussions 
 surrounding attendees for these groups will need to be agreed at a senior 
 management level within the department prior to implementation.  
 
7.3 The department will continue to organise the final stages of our planned Destination 

Day planned for October 2019 where we will launch our new guide, map and explain 
the future plans related to tourism development. Additionally, there will be 
presentations from numerous attractions and organisation – all aligned to the tourism 
sector. 

 
7.4  The Community Regeneration Department will continue to work closely with the 

Council’s Web Development and Corporate Communications Teams in order to evolve 
our current Visit Merthyr Website, Interactive mapping tools and social media 
platforms. Furthermore, the department will implement a mechanism which will capture 
our social media stats on a bi-monthly basis which will be presented in our 
departmental Highlight Reports.    

 
7.5 Additional work will soon be undertaken by the department to develop an events 

programme covering the next 2-3 years. Strategic alignment and support can then be 
given based on the need of the event organiser with each event ‘owner’ going through 
the ESAG Event Framework process, again, with the support of the department. 

 
7.6 Conclusions and recommendations within the findings from the Cwm Taf Diagnostic 

Review Report will be ratified and actions put in place to enhance the tourism sector 
with a view of potentially undertaking a further study. The department now need to 
meet with the Cwm Taf PSB to present an action plan for year two which will need to 
be ratified by the Board. 

 
Page 49



7.7 The department will continue to organise the proposed Vlogger–Blogger trip in 
partnership with key Merthyr Tydfil Attractions. We will soon go through a stage of 
advertising the opportunity within a variety of fields linked to social influencers in order 
to gain the right level of visitor for that weekend in April 2020. 

 
7.8 The new Destination Management Assistant will start her role in mid-September 2019 

and part of their directive will be to market the region on our various platforms, 
undertake research and develop benchmarking process. Impact and outcomes will 
continue to be monitored throughout the year.  

 
7.9 The department will continue to communicate with the University of South Wales–

Merthyr Tydfil Campus in order to develop a structured ten week work placement 
within the Council and key attractions. A framework will be developed in conjunction 
with the College to ensure the placement gains as much valuable knowledge and 
experience from the initiative. 

 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The Destination Management Plan is integral to the each of the Local Authority's 

Corporate Priorities; with the Working Life objective being the most specific to the work 
of the Community Regeneration Department.  

 
8.2 In relation to Best Start to Life objective, the document will focus its attention on 

working with internal departments and key stakeholders such as Merthyr Tydfil College 
and Tydfil Training in order to provide training opportunities relevant to the need of the 
area.  

 
8.3 With regards to the DMP's impact on improving inclusion & wellbeing in the County 
 Borough; the proposed Destination Management Partnership will look at mechanisms 
 with which we can again work with colleagues from internal teams and stakeholders to 
 develop an environment which promotes the opportunity for independent living in the 
 community, active lifestyles through quality facilities (paid and free) and meets the 
 needs of vulnerable children by liaising with colleagues from national programmes 
 such as Flying Start and Families First. 
 
8.4 Economic growth is our key objective within the Community Regeneration  Department 

and by the DMP focussing its attentions on Economic Development and the 
'employability' agenda we have an excellent resource to develop both fields further 
over the next three years. The 'Partnership' will consider all aspects of Economic 
Growth ranging from inward investment, job creation, business expansion  and 
stimulating entrepreneurship across the County Borough.     

 
8.5 The 'Destination Management Partnership' will look to develop a sustainable 
 environment in collaboration with  internal colleagues with an overall aim of ensuring 
 that the people of Merthyr Tydfil live in communities that are sustainable, clean and 
 energy efficient. Therefore, the DMP will actively work toward protecting our 
 environment with an extensive range of planned activities. These range from reducing 
 
 
 

Page 50



pollution and the amount of waste sent to landfill to protecting areas of parkland, 
wildlife reserves and biodiversity. 

 
 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER 
PLACE & TRANSFORMATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Merthyr Tydfil 
Destination 

Management Plan 
2016-18 

 

 
September 2016 

 
Unit 5 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 
No 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Work Programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 23rd August 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 10th September 2019 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 54



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 55



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 56



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 58



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 
 

 
  

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

4th June 2019 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Cllr Julian Amos (Chair) and 

Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and make any required adjustments 

to this in order to agree its content and sign off the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen / Chris :Long/ 
Zoe Thomas 

Scrutiny and Challenge: -  Following the update report received by the Committee in July 
2018; a subsequent report has been requested on recent developments linked to the 
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area.  The report should contain details on the governance activities 
supporting delivery of this activity for the Committee to scrutinise.  It should also 
demonstrate how the area will feature as part of the Design Council for Wales’ Crucible 
Report. 
 

16th July 2019 

Refocus of the CCTV service 
area 

Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen / Paul Lewis / 
Ryan Evans 

Scrutiny and Challenge:-  Following the management of the CCTV service being transferred 
to the Community Safety and Regulatory Compliance Manager’s service area; Committee 
Members would like a report outlining any proposed changes to the way in which the CCTV 
will work.  The Committee also expects some detail on how the Council plans to use the 
system to generate intelligence that will strengthen the Council’s performance not only in 
community safety-related work but also in the broader sense. 
 

Anti-social Behaviour Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen / Paul Lewis / 
Ryan Evans 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee requests officers bring forward a report which will 
offer them an overview of the current status in relation to anti-social behaviour and its 
impact on residents of and visitors to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough.  The report should 
contain the latest available data  on a local and national level in relation to this topic.  
Members would welcome an update on the current funding situation re: this; as well as an 
overview of partnership arrangements supporting delivery of activity addressing this issue. 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 59



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

  

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

16th September 
2019 

Self-Evaluation Findings: 
Question 1: Outcomes 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify and 
set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to the 
first of the key questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to scrutinise 
the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant supporting 
evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Destination Development Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Ryan 
Barry 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on the progress 
made linked to the work undertaken by the Council linked to ongoing Destination 
Development activity.  The Committee will scrutinise the report to identify progress made 
to date; explore the impact of these activities on the ecomony; and the opportunities 
these activities make on jobs/careers and training and skills development  

Committee Work 

Programme 2019/2020 

 

Cllr Julian Amos (Chair) and 

Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and make any required adjustments 

to this in order to agree its content and sign off the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

 

14th October 
2019 

Cwm Taf Youth Offending 
Service (YOS) 

Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen/ Paul Lewis / 
Lyndon Lewis (Cwm Taf 
YOS) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:   Following an update received by the Committee in April 2019; 
members requested a report be received detailing the work being undertaken by the Youth 
Offending Service within Merthyr Tydfil.   The Committee expects most up-to-date data to 
be included; and that this information is put into the context of the key interventions being 
delivered by Cwm Taf YOS; and the impact of these. 
 

Substance Misuse Councillor Geraint Thomas/ 
Alyn Owen/Paul Lewis / Ceri 

Ford (RCT CBC) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Following an update received by the Committee in April 2019; 
members requested a report be received focusing on the specific situation in relation to 
Merthyr Tydfil regarding substance misuse.  The Committee expects the most up-to-date 
information for the County Borough to be included; and that this information covers the use 
of both alcohol and illegal substances.  The report should also offer an outline of the key 
interventions being delivered and the impact of these. 
 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 60



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

2nd December 
2019 

Self-Evaluation Findings: 
Question 2: Service Delivery 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify and 
set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to the 
second key question which is linked to Service Delivery.  They will be required to scrutinise 
the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant supporting 
evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Homelessness Strategy Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen/ Suzanne Lewis-
Abbott  

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Following approval of the Council’s Homelessness Strategy by Full 
Council on 17th December 2018, the Committee has requested a report be brought back to 
identify what impact had been noted as a result of the strategy being rolled out.  The 
Committee expects any relevant performance data to be included in the report; along with 
any details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome. 
 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

13th January 
2020 

Continued Development of 
the Town Centre and the 
Night-time Economy 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge: -  Following an report received by Members in August 2019; the 
Committee requires a further report to be presented  outlining the developments linked to 
the development of the Town Centre; and the Night-time Economy.  The report should 
contain status updates in relation to the ‘next steps’ identified when the topic was 
previously brought to scrutiny: 

 The status of the Merthyr After Dark strategy and the practical implications of delivering 
this on communities; 

 The status and membership of the Evening Economy Board; and the Board’s key 
priorities; and 

 What specifically the Council’s Regeneration and Public Protection Teams will be 
contributing to delivery of the strategy 

Town Centre Master Plan 
 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Members have requested a report be brought before the 
Committee to outline the key elements of the latest iteration of the Town Centre Master 
Plan.  Updates on key activities such as the Building Enhancement Scheme; developments 
linked to transport infrastructure should be included in the report. 

P
age 61



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

 
 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

13th January 
2020 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

3rd March 2020 

Self-Evaluation Findings: 
Question 3: Leadership and 
Management 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long  / Paul 
Lewis 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-evaluation process 
supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on what they achieved and identify and 
set priorities for improvement.  The Committee will receive the service’s response to the 
last of the key questions which is linked to Leadership and Management.  They will be 
required to scrutinise the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with 
relevant supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   
 

Violent Crime: Sexual 
Violence 

To be confirmed Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee has requested a report on this topic which would 
include both local and national data on sexual violence.  The report should outline the 
impact of sexual violence on citizens (i.e.) STIs; pregnancies; impact on mental health and 
offer basic detail on the support structure available for victims both at the time incidents 
occur and in the longer-term. 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

27th April 2020 
 
 
 
 

Third sector funding and 
support 

To be confirmed Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee acknowledged Governance committee are 
undertaking a piece of work around this issue.  However, Members of the Regeneration and 
Public Protection Committee Members wish to review and discuss the contribution third 
sector organisations make to the activities which are brought before them on a regular 
basis.  Discussions will focus on how funding cuts experienced over time have impacted on 
working arrangements; the level of services and activities being delivered generally and, in 
particular, how third sector funding and support has been impacted in relation to 
regeneration, cultural and public protection activities.  

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust To be confirmed Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee seek an update on the activities being delivered by 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust with a specific focus on how these activities compliment or 
impact upon the services delivered by MTCBC. 

P
age 62



Regeneration and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

 

 

 
Additional Topics for Review 

 

To be discussed Hoover Master Plan 
 
 

Public awareness around the proposed development of the Hoover site is growing and people are keen to find 
out more about what is being discussed, what impact any development would have on the people living in the 
areas around the Hoover site as well as to find out what role the Council will play in this.   

To be discussed Merthyr Tydfil’s Hidden 
History 

During a number of scrutiny sessions during 2018-19; Merthyr Tydfil’s Hidden History had been identified as an 
possible area of interest by the Committee Chair.  

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

27th April 2020 

Work Programme Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Committee will review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s expectations are 
available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 
 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Corporate Self- Evaluation - Question 1 (Outcomes)
	Appendix 2

	4 Update on Destination Management
	5 Work Programme 2019-20
	Approved Regeneration & Public Protection Work Programme 2019-20


